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question. It was as if he’d been expecting it and
was relieved and amused that it had finally arrived.

"Yes, San Benedetto in Bosco, the same place
he’s just gone back to, when it was still a boarding
school. The school’s closed down now. A pity, it
was a good school. Quite a journey he’s made,
don’t you think? All the way back to the place
where he started.’

‘That dispensation from the bishop ... It is still
valid, 1sn’t 1t? I can still talk to Don Sergio?’

‘Of course. After what His Eminence did to get
you that interview, not to do so would be . . . well, a
waste of his valuable time, I’d say. I sincerely hope
1t’s worth it.’

“Thank you. I think 1t will be.’

‘Call me tomorrow morning, and I'll tell you
when you can see him.’

3
~D

Once he was off the main road, Ferrara could not
help regretting that he had taken his own car. A
police car would at least have had the aura of
officialdom.

His old Mercedes was not meant for this
tortuous dirt road that wound at first through a
wood full of chestnut trees and gradually emerged
in a genuine forest, full of big beeches, Scots pines
and the occasional silver fir. The sudden dips and
ubiquitous stones really put the car’s suspension to
the test, and the brambles hanging over the road

349
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to Florence. She had wanted to concentrate only
on him. She was making a desperate etfort to
dispel the ambiguity of the situation in which she
found herself. She wanted to be free ot the past, to
see things clearly. She had even pulled the zip of
her skirt higher than before, leaving her left thigh
completely uncovered, and now here he was,
dragging her back to the very thing she wanted to
forget.

‘What about her?’ she said, a bit too abruptly.

‘Are you very . . . close?’

‘We’ve known each other since we were
children.’

‘That’s not what I meant.’

‘What do you mean?’

‘The other day, when I came to Bologna . . . I got
the impression you . . .’

“What? Why don’t you just come out with 1t?’

But he didn’t reply. He was driving fast, his eyes
fixed on the road ahead.

So that was what was eating him. He’d
understood, he’d seen them together, he’d caught
them just after they’d got out of bed, at midday.
Oh, God!

‘Is there . . . anything between you?’ he asked at
last, hesitantly.

‘What are you talking about? We’re friends, I
told you. We rented the apartment together.
Actually, 1t was our parents who rented it for us.
They know each other. We’ve all known each other
for years.’

He said nothing, clearly unsatisfied with her
answer.

‘What do you want to know?’ she went on in
exasperation. ‘If Cinzia and I sleep together? Well,
280
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‘That’s a pity. They say the food here is special.
[t’s been highly recommended to me.’

Their first course, the pappardelle al sugo, lived
up to expectation.

‘Delicious,’ she said, despite herself.

‘I shouldn’t have taken you to see that exhibition,
should I'?”’

‘Well, it wasn’t really my kind of thing ...” She
felt ill at ease. The fact was, she had been feeling
uncomfortable ever since he had dampened her
enthusiasm by greeting her that morning with a
quick peck on the cheek. In the car, they hadn’t
spoken at all. He had put on Bjork’s latest CD,
which she liked too, and they had listened to i1t all
the way from Florence to San Gimignano.

The grim exhibition of torture instruments had
not improved her mood.

“To think I devoted a whole article to it,” he said.

‘How was New York?’ Valentina asked, changing
the subject.

‘Same as usual. Work, work and more work.’

They both fell silent, at a loss what to talk about.

‘Mike ...” Valentina said at last, trying to meet
his eyes through the sunglasses. She realised that
he was staring at something over her shoulder. She
turned, but couldn’t see anything except
anonymous people having animated conversations
and, beyond that, the door to the kitchen, over
which there was a display of calendars and the
insignia of the police, the Carabinieri and the anti-
Maha brigade.

‘What 1s this?” Mike asked the waiter bringing
their second course. ‘A police canteen?’

‘Oh, those?’ the waiter replied. ‘It’s just that they
often come In here to eat. In fact, the famous

278
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‘Since ’84, 1 think. He was just over ten. But I
never saw much of him. His parents had qlways
wanted him to go to boarding school, hoping to
give him an education that would keep him out ot
their world. He didn’t often come to Florence.’

‘I see. Do you think that’s why he hated them?’

‘Frankly, yes. Gualtiero told me once the boy had
had a bad time at boarding school, but didn’t want
to give up.’

The officer returned with a tray containing the
coffee, the cigarettes and the water. Ferrara
smiled: he was back in the world ot paper cups.

‘The warden would like to know 1f you’re going
to be much longer.’

‘l don’t think so. Ten, fifteen minutes at the
most. Thank him for his patience. And thank you,
too.’

The oftficer let the room.

Salustri lit a cigarette and took deep drags at it.
Ferrara lit a cigar. The air would soon be
unbreathable, but 1t was worth it.

‘Do you have any idea how much Ricciardi’s
estate was worth?’

‘Billions of lire, but I don’t know how much.’

‘And 1t all went to Lorenzo?’

‘I don’t know, but I think it’s unlikely. As I said,
Ricciardi senior was connected with the Calabrian
Matia and some of the money must have been used
for laundering. I don’t think the clan left it all to
Lorenzo. It’s possible he belongs to the clan, but I
doubt 1t, as he wouldn’t have stayed in America all
that time and I'd probably have known about it.

Most likely, they found a way to share the
inheritance.’

‘Do you have any idea where he might be
346
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Antonio Salustri seemed to have aged ten years.
He was thinner, even paler if possible, and without
a trace of his old arrogance. Ferrara almost felt
sorry for him. He often felt sorry for prisoners who
hadn’t committed the worst crimes, like murder,
rape or kidnapping. But it was a purely emotional
reaction. Even the less serious crimes hurt other
people, and needed to be punished.

They sat down opposite one another, with the
little table 1n the middle.

“You asked to see me,” Ferrara began.

‘Yes, Superintendent.” Salustri’s tone was
humble, deferential, and his tired eyes had heavy
purple rings under them. ‘I heard you’re looking
for Lorenzo Ricciardi and I decided to ... Well, I
have something to tell you.’

‘How did you hear?’

‘Come on, Superintendent, you know about
these things. The prison grapevine is better than
public radio.’

‘Okay, what have you got to tell me?’ Ferrara was
curt and ofthand. Salustri clearly wanted to get
him on his side, but Ferrara preferred to keep a
distance between them.

‘First, I'd like your assurance that you’ll help me
out,” Salustri said.

‘Do you think your information is that
important?’

‘I don’t know, that’s for you to say. What I do
know is that I'm running a great risk by telling you.
My life could be in danger when I get out of here.’

Are you saying you were more involved with the

underworld than you admitted in your original
statement?’

‘But you haven’t yet promised —
340
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slightly upturned, and her small, soft, slightly
protuberant lips had that hint of a pout that men
like so much. She was wearing tight-fitting jeans, a
purple blouse and an Indian silk waistcoat.

There was a queue at the Information office, and
she had to wait.

From time to time, she looked nervously at her
watch.

‘How do I get to Greve in Chianti?’ she asked
when she finally reached the front of the queue.

“There’s a bus about once an hour,” the girl
behind the desk replied. ‘The bus station is on your
right as you go out, in the Via Santa Caterina da
Siena.’

‘How about the university?’

‘Here 1n Florence?’

‘Yes, the faculty of letters and philosophy.’

‘Just a moment, let me have a look.’

As Valentina left the station, she looked at her
watch again. 9.25. Too late. Better take a taxi, she
could still afford it.

10 a.m.: Police Headquarters

9

In the offices of the Squadra Mobile on the first
floor of Police Headquarters in the Via Zara,
Ferrara had summoned five of his men for a
meeting.

They sat around the table opposite his desk:
Gianni Ascalchi, a young superintendent with a
pleasantly grumpy expression, recently transterred
from Rome; Superintendent Francesco Rizzo,
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PART ONE

A LONG, STRANGE DAY
IN FLORENCE

I October 1999
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experience the genuine, rich, sweet atmosphere ot
a region that is unique in the world.

The shop was in one of the streets leading ott
the piazza, the Via Roma. The piazza had an
unusual triangular shape, which some said looked
like a fish. At the apex of the triangle was the
church, and near the base, beneath the arcades,
was the bar from which, to judge by the crowds,
the phone call had been made. Among the
crowds, Ferrara spotted a couple of officers from
the Homicide Section asking questions.

As far as he could see, there were no journalists
or TV crews—much to his relief.

A red and white tape with the words Stop—Police
had been stretched across the entrance to the Via
Roma. His men had, quite correctly, cordoned off
the part of the street immediately adjacent to the
crime scene.

He crossed the tape.

The shop was less than twenty yards along the
street. In the two wide windows was a nicely
arranged display of crucifixes, candelabras, books,
postcards, and religious prints. A sign above the
entrance read Religious Articles.

He went 1n.

As he did so, Rizzo came towards him. The
others already there were the pathologist,
Francesco Leone, with whom Ferrara continued to
be on formal terms despite all the cases they had
worked on together over the years, Inspector Sergi
with various colleagues from Homicide, and the
forensics team.

In a quiet corner, some distance from the scene
of the crime, he saw a priest talking in a low voice
to an elderly man. The priest, who looked nervous
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and upset, was unusually handsome.

There was a strange atmosphere, an unnatural
absence of noise. It was almost as though the men,
subdued by the surroundings, had instinctively
lowered their voices and toned down the bustle
normal in such situations, adapting their rhythms
and movements to a sanctity the place didn’t really
possess.

As 1f to confirm that impression, Rizzo greeted
Ferrara with the words, ‘It’s like being inside an
old church.’

The room was quite large, rectangular in shape,
and artificially lit. Not much light came in from
outside. The walls were almost entirely covered
with heavy wooden shelves, some behind glass
doors, containing books, missals, votive images,
and locally-made silver—or what appeared to be
silver—crucifixes. The high ceiling was supported
by solid beams. A halt-open door on the right led
to a store room. At the back was a long counter, on
which candles of various sizes were displayed.
Even the smell, a mixture of wood, wax, 1ncense
and damp, served to emphasise the peculiar
character of the scene.

The body lay on the floor, hidden by the counter.
He approached it.

The first thing he noticed was the blood, as
bright as red paint, which seemed to be still
gushing from under the body. The victim’s slashed
clothes were smeared with it, the floor was covered
with a pool of it, and the shelves, the counter and
the objects were spattered with it.

The dead man was lying on his left side with his
head turned slightly to the right. His eyes were
wide open and his mouth gaped, as if he had been
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which they considered common and deadly.

‘I did it!” Massimo exclaimed as he joined him,
having finally managed to extricate himself from
the passionate debate currently 1n progress.

‘I could have waited. I’'m in no hurry.’

‘What?’ He smiled. ‘Oh, no, [ wasn’t referring to
those four madmen.” He opened a drawer in the
desk, took out a rather thick envelope and handed
it over in triumph. ‘Look at this, and spare me the
gratitude. When the time’s right, I'll remind you
that you owe me one.’

The surprise wasn’t entirely unexpected. The
envelope contained return tickets to Vienna, for
two people, for a period of two weeks over the
New Year, as well as tickets for the first night of
Cavalleria Rusticana with Placido Domingo, which
were now quite impossible to find.

I p.m.: Michele Ferrara’s apartment

\9

Ferrara returned home, humming Bada, Santuzza,
schiavo non sono under his breath, making sure no
one could hear him because he was very out of tune
and was well aware of the fact, even without Petra
there to remind him. He was in a good mood. He
had quite forgotten that the world never stops
breathing down our necks, doesn’t give a damn how
we amuse ourselves, and is always there, ready to
deal us a new blow in order to remind us that we are
human and are born only to suffer.

Petra was in the greenhouse on the terrace,
which was one of her two kingdoms, the other
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“To say the least.’

They sat down, but he found it hard to
concentrate on the tempting salad with porcini
mushrooms and slivers of Parmesan. ‘So,” he said,
‘don’t you want to know? What’s the matter? You
seem distracted.’

‘No, no, tell me. What is this great news?’

He told her as he handed her the envelope, and
for a moment at least the joy of the surprise
seemed to dispel whatever anxiety was nagging
away at her. But immediately her expression grew
pensive.

‘So,” Michele Ferrara said gently, unable to
restrain himself any longer, ‘do you want to tell me
now or do you prefer to keep it bottled up until
tonight?’

‘What, Michele?’ she said, making a small
attempt to defend herself but knowing it was
pointless.

Petra’s greatest gift was that she was a practical,
down-to-earth woman. She always overcame her
fears and anxieties, always tried to find ways of
dealing with even the most difficult situations, and
never let herself become discouraged. The
important thing was to do something: that was her
credo 1n lite. That was another reason he didn’t
like to think that something had unsettled her.

They looked at each other intensely for a few
moments. Then she took a letter out of the big
pocket ot her gardening smock, and handed it to
him. As he held out his arm to take it, he
uncovered his watch, and he instinctively noted the
time: 1.46.

[t was an ordinary commercial envelope. It bore
the letterhead of a mail order firm and a gummed
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two deepest wounds. The weapon used was a knife
with a blade about four and a half inches long.’
‘How many times was he stabbed?’
‘A lot. Thirty-six, and almost all of them, as I
said, after he was already dead and lying on his

side on the ground.’
‘What do we know about the direction of the

blows?’

‘The first blows were struck with great force in a
downward direction and from right to left, in rapid
succession, which indicates that the killer is right-
handed and must be as tall as, or taller than, the
victim. The other blows, more cuts than blows,
were inflicted from right to left, from lett to right
and in a downward direction.’

‘Well, that’s something.’

“There’s more, chiet.’

‘Goon.’

‘Leone conducted a close examination of the
tissues of the rectal walls. There’s no doubt about
it: Micali was a practising homosexual, and had
been tor a long time.’

Ah, our “Stefanino”; Ferrara said knowingly.
‘What about this afternoon? Any signs of sexual
assault?’

‘No. Leone’s ruled it out.’

‘Is that all there is?’

‘Yes, chief.’

‘Let’s see what we’ve got so far. The murder took
place after the shop closed for lunch. According to
the priest, Micali usually locked the door. And
again according to Don Sergio, Micali never went
out during the lunch break. On the contrary, that
was when people sometimes, or maybe often, came
to see him. We know the priest did. Why not some
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lying under the body, so thoroughly drenched in
blood as to be completely unreadable.

Perhaps this was the object the assistant had
been showing, or intending to show, the customer,
if the murderer had indeed been a customer.
There were similar books displayed on the shelf
behind the counter.

The shop was emptying. Soon the last men would
leave and seals would be placed on the door.

Ferrara walked back to the square and got there
just 1n time to see Gianni Fuschi of Forensics, an
old friend of his, heading for one of the police cars.

He called to him.

‘Can you do me a favour?’ he asked when he
came level with him.

‘Maybe even two, Gatto,” Fuschi replied, using
the nickname—the Cat—that many of his men,
and even some journalists, used tor Ferrara. It
was an affectionate term that not only showed
their admiration for the shrewdness concealed
beneath his often secretive exterior, but also
alluded to the catlike shape of his eyes and his
sharp, penetrating gaze.

‘Follow me,’” he said, drawing Fuschi away from
the other men, who were getting into their cars and
vans to return to Headquarters. Spotting Rizzo
among them, he called, ‘Go ahead, I'll join you!’
Then, turning back to Fuschi, ‘There’s another
thing I'd like you to take a look at. But whatever
you find, I don’t want anyone else to know. Just
me, okay?’

From his jacket pocket he took out a plastic
envelope containing the threatening letter, which
he had wiped clean of fingerprints—a serious
mistake, perhaps, but there was no avoiding it if he
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And on the envelope he wrote:

FATHER SERGIO ROTONDI
PARISH CHURCH OF SANTA CROCE
GREVE IN CHIANTI (FI)

S * X

By the time the girl got back in the Porsche, he had
already put everything in his pocket.

‘How come it took you so long?’ he asked gently.

‘They couldn’t find the books, they’re not very
organised. I only got three, in the end. But the
owner’s very nice, he even lent me a book.’

‘Shall we go, then? It’s nearly eight.’

All right, step on 1tV

He didn’t need to be asked twice. He set off with
a squeal of tyres. After dropping the girl he
returned home, undecided whether or not to send
the letter.

k S k

‘Pretty girl, wasn’t she?” Massimo Verga remarked.

‘Don’t even think about it!’

‘Come on now, you’re not going to tell me she’s
too young for me!’

“That as well, if you want me to. But what I was
thinking was, she’s already taken. You saw him.’

‘Good-looking young man. Daddy’s boy, bit of a
stud. Hot blooded, like all of them, but lacking
experience.’

‘He’s certainly good-looking. The fair hair’s fake,
though. There’s something weird about him. And
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Florence, some sixty-odd miles from where she
lived. If she did finally make up her mind, she’d
probably have to find a room there and leave
Bologna, which might be a good thing.

An American stranger, Florence, black magic . . .
And how would Cinzia react, Cinzia her flatmate
in Bologna, to whom she was still connected 1n so
many ways?

Confused by her own emotions, cradled by the
swaying motion of the train and the warmth of the
carriage, she closed her eyes.

Midnight

\\\9

The pages of the black notebook with the gold
cross stamped on the cover were uncut.
The hand moved rapidly and surely over the

immaculately white first page. The handwriting
was tiny, neat and precise.

October 1st 1999

In your name, Father, I have killed.
It was easy. Liberating.

Far more so than a Confession.
Now at last I am born!

I will go all the way, as you wish.
Do not take your support from me.

I will be the instrument of your vengeance, and
mine.
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PART TWO

A SERIES OF MURDERS
Florence 1999-2000

T~ 9





index-46_2.png





index-47_2.png





index-47_1.png





index-48_2.png





index-48_1.png





index-49_2.png





index-49_1.png
39





index-50_2.png





index-50_1.png
40

‘We





index-51_1.png
[talian version, translated by Giulio Delmino in
Paris in 1530, of the infamous Necronomicon. You
know what the Necronomicon is, don’t you?’

‘No.’

It’s the oldest known treatise on black magic,
written by an Arab named Abdul Alhazred. Here,
take 1t.’

‘No, I couldn’t do that. I could never afford it. I
told you, I’'m only a student.’

‘Don’t worry, it’s not old, it’s just a photostat.
Not worth much, but the contents are fine. And
besides, you don’t have to buy it. Just promise to
bring 1t back, that’s all I ask. I insist, and when a
Sicilian insists . ..’

The girl hesitated, but took the book in the end.
“You’re quite something, you know? That thing
about magic is a great idea—none of my teachers
said anything about 1t.’

‘Welcome to Florence, signorina,
amused.

?

he said,

Once he got back in the car, the young man wrote
a few words in block capitals on the sheet of
writing paper he had bought, along with a ready-
stamped envelope, from the tobacconist’s:

I SAW YOU TODAY IN GREVE. | KNOW WHERE TO
FIND YOU, YOU WON'T GET AWAY WITH IT.
WHOEVER HAS INFLICTED TORTURE DESERVES
ONLY TORTURE IN RETURN. AN EYE FOR AN EYE:
THAT IS THE TRUE LAW OF THE LORD. I'LL COME
AND FIND YOU. DON’T TRY AND ESCAPE. I'LL

STILL FIND YOU.
4]
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Ferrara that the robbery had been confirmed.
Evidently the countess, or whatever she was, had
reported it. That at least was a good sign. |

‘All right, Dieni, let’s talk man to man. I think
we’re both men of our word.’

They looked each other straight in the eyes. The
agreement they were making didn’t need words on
paper, didn’t need signatures. It was part of an
ancient code.

‘We’ve heard you’re a friend of Antonio Salustri,
the antique dealer in Santo Spirito,” Ferrara
resumed. ‘In fact, you seem to be on very good
terms indeed.’

‘It’s true, Superintendent, he’s one of the people
I use to offload merchandise, but he’s not involved
In this—’

‘I don’t care. Tell me everything you know about
him. One of his assistants was murdered in his
shop 1n Santo Spirito. You knew that, didn’t you?’

The penny finally dropped. Dieni seemed
relieved. ‘So is that what this is about?’

“What do you know about the murder?’

‘Nothing. I can only speculate . . .’

All right, speculate, and we’ll see what we think.’

All T know, Superintendent, i1s that Antonio
Salustri was getting ready to do a major deal,
something he was sure would set him up for life.’

"What was 1t?’

‘He’d found a buyer, a rich Swiss collector, for
this painting he had by Velazquez—you know, the
famous Spanish painter. A painting stolen some
years ago trom a church in Sicily. Salustri found it
In the store room of his shop when he did an
inventory of the merchandise left by the previous
owner, Gualtiero Ricciardi. He knew what it was
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This 1s interesting. What else can you tell me?’

‘Hey, I’m not going to arrest Dieni and Salustri
for you! I’'ve given you their names and told you
what they’re involved in—what more do you want?
You’re the copper, not me. I don’t want anyone
knowing I told you! I’d be a dead man and you’d
have me on your conscience.’

"What do you think I am? You know I’d never
betray you. That’s why you had to do your time—
because I didn’t want to betray you, not even to my
boss. I hope you’ve realised that by now.’

‘Sure, I already knew it. That’s why I trust you. I
hope 1t works out for you.’

“Thanks, Spider, I'll be thinking of you.’

‘Me too.’

They toasted each other, downed their whiskies
and went their separate ways.

* X *

‘Pino, tell the boss what you just told me,” Sergi
began as soon as they sat down in front ot Ferrara’s
desk. It was 8.15 on Monday 10 January.

Officer Ricci gave a faithful account of what he’d
heard from his childhood friend, referred to as
‘one of my most reliable sources who’s proved
useful on several occasions’.

‘You remember two summers ago, when we
caught those people who’d robbed the Central Post
Office, just as they were escaping?’

‘Of course I remember. It was one of your
informants who tipped us ott.’

‘Well, chief, it’s the same source. He’s never been
wrong. I can vouch for him.’ o

‘Okay, Ricci, put all this in a report and give it to
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‘He told me the murder had something to do
with the antiques racket. From what he’d heard
since he’d been in prison, the guy who was killed
had probably found out what his employer was up
to. Maybe he’d seen something he shouldn’t have
seen and paid with his life.’

‘Seen what?’

‘He didn’t tell me and I didn’t ask him. When
you hear something like that, you shut up and
listen. Anyway, that’s all I know. You keep an eye
on Salustri and you won’t regret it.’

‘Looks like it might be worth it. But just tell me
one thing.’

‘What?’

‘This guy from the Calabrian Maha,
Salvatore . . . what did you say he was called?”’

‘Salvatore Dieni.’

‘Right. Who is he?’

‘I met him years ago. Not a big shot, but he’s got
all the right contacts. The Calabrians trust him
totally. They know he’d rather die than betray
their code.’

In other words, as long as he stayed loyal, he and
his tamily would live, Pino thought as he and Fabio
sipped another round of whiskies. This time they’d
had them brought to the table.

“What kind of guy is he?’ Pino asked.

‘He lives alone and whenever you see him he’s
alone. Officially he runs a bureau de change near
the Borgo San Lorenzo. It’s a front for money
laundering. With all the tourists around, Florence
1S a great place for it.’

‘Ot course. People never think of organised
crime in connection with Florence. We don’t have
Mafia killings, bombs, extortion, kidnapping .. .
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You know the one I mean, right?’

‘Sure. You’re talking to the right person, I'm
working on that case. I'm not in Narcotics any
more, Sergl wanted me in his squad. You
remember Sergi, don’t you?’

‘Sure—Serpico. Is he still a hippy?’

‘Oh, yes. You'd expect to see him on the
barricades. Same long hair and beard, same casual
clothes.’

“What a guy! I really can’t see him as a
policeman. He should be in the movies! How does
he stand working with idiots like you?’ Fabio
laughed, and Pino joined him.

And why should we keep an eye on this Salusto,
or whatever you said his name was?’

‘Antonio Salustri. If his name doesn’t mean
anything to you, you’re behind the times. He’s an
up and comer, clean on the surface but actually a
front man.’

‘Carry on.”

‘Lately, this Salustri’s been hanging out with a
guy from the Calabrian Mafia named Salvatore
Dieni, who’s big in the antiques racket.’

‘And you’re sure of this?’

‘Sure I’'m sure!’

‘And this Salustri. Did he have anything to do
with Alfredo Lupi’s murder? That’s the assistant.’

By now they had moved to a small table in a
corner, where a few seats had become free. People
had started to leave. It was getting close to closing
time: four o’clock.

‘There was this guy in prison—don’t ask me the
name because I wouldn’t tell you—he told me
some things in confidence.’

‘What kind of things?’
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Fabio Nuti was an old friend. They’d known each
other as children, but then their ways had parted.
Pino had entered the police force and Spiderman
had gone in the opposite direction. Famous from
his days as a burglar for his agility at climbing the
fronts of houses—hence the nickname—he was
now a pusher. His speciality was selling ecstasy 1n
discos.

The two of them hadn’t seen each other for
more than a year, ever since Spiderman had been
arrested on his way back from Naples with a
quantity of pills he had hoped to sell that
weekend. It must have been a tip-off, he’d thought
when he was stopped at the exit from the Florence
South tollgate by an unmarked car carrying plain-
clothes carabinieri from the drugs squad and
asked to follow them to their barracks, where they
had dismantled his brand new Rover piece by
plece.

‘So, Spider, how were things inside? Five-star
service?’

‘Fuck off, Pino. You try it some time, and tell me
how many stars you’d give it.’

‘Hey, just kidding. I'm pleased to see you.’

‘1 don’t like that kind of joke, Pino, especially
coming from a friend.’

Pino decided to change the subject. “‘What’s new
on the prison grapevine? Anything hot for me?
Anything that’ll make me look good?’

"What?’ Fabio hadn’t quite heard because of the
loud music.

Riccl repeated the question.

‘Don’t make me talk, Pino. I don’t want to do
that any more. People have started to cotton on. In
stir, you could have cut the atmosphere with a
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again.

"Valentina?’

It was Cinzia.

‘Hi.’

"Why didn’t you call me?’

“You didn’t call me either.’

Valentina was surprised at herself. She was
dissolving inside, she realised that she had wanted
this phone call more than anything in the world,
and yet she had found the courage to answer back.

"When are you coming back to Bologna?’

‘Do you care?’

Silence.

‘I can’t hear you.’

“You haven’t answered my question.’

‘I don’t know. After Twelfth Night, I think.’

‘Are you having fun?’

‘Are you?’

‘Oh, you know, the usual.’

‘Listen to me, Cinzia. I don’t know if I want to go
back to Bologna. I've been oftered an apartment in
Florence . ..’

“Your journalist friend, I suppose?’ Cinzia’s tone
had become curt and defensive.

‘He doesn’t matter. What matters 1s what I
think.’

‘And what do you think?’

‘I don’t know. Honestly, I don’t know. I have to
think of my future and . ..

‘And you don’t see your future with me, 1s that
it?’

Silence.

‘So that is it.” She sounded offended.

‘I told you, I don’t know. I came here to think
and so many things have happened. Strange

89





index-166_2.png





index-164_2.png





index-96_1.png





index-164_1.png





index-95_2.png





index-165_2.png





index-97_1.png





index-165_1.png





index-96_2.png





index-162_2.png





index-94_1.png





index-162_1.png





index-93_2.png





index-163_2.png





index-95_1.png





index-163_1.png





index-94_2.png





index-98_1.png
It snowed all day in Santo Stefano and the pistes
remained closed. Still confused by that strange
night, Valentina hung about the hotel, giving a
hand to the waiters and cooks. She did not call
Cinzia, not knowing what she would say to her, and
Cinzia did not call her.

Nor did she call on the days that followed.

On the 28th, though, Mike phoned again.

‘I’'ve found the perfect Christmas present for
you,” he announced.

‘What i1s it?’

‘A little apartment. As it happens, it’s the
apartment above mine. It’s a bit of a distance from
the university, but still better than going backwards
and forwards from Bologna.’

‘I don’t understand.’

‘“You’ve only got your thesis still to finish, isn’t
that right? You don’t need Bologna any more. You
should be living in Florence. For your research.
And this 1s a great opportunity. The way the prices
are here ...

‘But you can’t just decide like that, Mike, off
your own bat.’

‘I don’t know how you Italians do it, but I always
think that if you don’t make a move right away, by
tomorrow it’s already too late.’

‘Listen, it’s not as simple as that.’
‘Well, do as you want. But they’re only holding it

for me one more day. I gave my word. Let me
know.’

‘I'll think about it. And thanks anyway.’
‘Let me know,” he repeated.

Not even half an hour had passed—half an hour
of anguish and uncertainty—when the mobile rang
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ever. The biggest bore will be the plaster. Her right
shoulder is dislocated and we’ll need to immobilise
it. A stiff bandage may be enough, but it’s essential
that for a fortnight at least she doesn’t use her arm
at all. And she won’t be able to walk—there’s been
a secretion of serum, which has swollen her left
knee. We’ve syringed it and now we’re applying a
light plaster cast to keep her leg firm. It can come
off in two weeks. She can even cut it off herselt
with a pair of scissors if she’s not able to come back
here.’

Relieved, Valentina’s parents thanked the
doctor, who went back into the emergency room.

‘“You see?” Giorgio Preti said to Cinzia.
Reassured, she sniffled and gave him a smile that
lit up her tear-streaked face.

Valentina’s mother, also calmer now, at last sat
down.

Soon afterwards, the double doors were thrown
wide open and two male nurses came out pushing a
trolley. Valentina lay on it, her face swathed in

bandages, her left leg in plaster and her right arm
held 1n a stiff bandage.

Her parents and Cinzia ran to her.

Through holes in the bandages they could see
her eyes, her gaze seeking each of them in turn,
and her mouth: it seemed to Cinzia that she was
trying to smile, but all that showed was a grimace
of pain.

‘Does 1t hurt, Vale?’

Valentina did not reply.

The nurses asked them to stand aside so that
they could take her into the room she had been
assigned.

"Who won?’ Valentina stammered at last as they
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Yours is a very, very unusual request.’

‘I realise that.’

‘I assume you’ve given it a lot of thought.’

‘I have no choice.’

Monsignor Federici was watching him closely, his
chin in his right hand, his lips pursed, his brow
furrowed. ‘The Church is no longer as inclined as it
once was to . . . turn a blind eye, if you know what I
mean. If the media get hold of the story ...’

‘But the Church can make exceptions.’

‘If there are very, very serious reasons why it
should. The Church can do anything—with the
help of God.’

‘Isn’t a corrupted soul serious enough?’

The prelate thought this over. ‘Have you brought
the letter, as I asked?’

Don Sergio held it out to him.

The prelate took it, put on a pair of half-moon
glasses and studied 1t.

‘Good,” he said. ‘I think His Eminence will
receive you. [ hope you’re just as convincing when
you speak to him. The Archbishop of Florence is a
holy man, but he hates being bothered
unnecessarily. He has many important duties to
attend to in the diocese.’

He stood up and walked to the door. ‘Wait for
me,” he said, and went out.

He soon returned.

‘Please follow me.’
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can have a room on the first floor, no 114. We'’ve
just refurbished it and it has everythmg Cable TV,
fax, a well-stocked minibar .

‘Thanks Mummy, but I prefer mine.’

‘I's up to you. It’s just so small and
uncomfortable. But it’s ready if you want it.’

‘I don’t know how you can sleep up there,” her
father said. ‘There isn’t even a toilet in the room,
you have to go haltway along the corridor. And
with all the work going on, it’s a real mess up
there.’

"My things are there—my memories . . . I like it.
Don’t worry.’

‘If you're sure.’

Valentina wanted to be back in that room she
had known as a child, she wanted to take refuge in
it and forget.

Even though, as she herself had said, her
memories were 1n that room . . .

k k X

The sloping ceiling, the Spice Girls posters, the
Barbies neatly lined up on a white shelf, the lilac
wallpaper, the collection of cups and medals won
in skiing competitions, the television with the built-
in VCR, the stereo unit and the CD rack, the
books, the comics. Valentina looked around, and
did not find the welcome she had expected from
these objects. They were no longer childhood
companions: they had suddenly become silent but
accusing witnesses of her betrayal.

She had betrayed her family, her future, her
hopes. She had brought it on herself, with all the
unawareness of youth, and now she didn’t know
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massage, to replace the lofts on the top floor.

‘But we haven’t touched your room,” her father
assured her.

Snow was falling and it was already dark, but
there was the unmistakable outline of the great
hotel with its pointed turret. All the lights were on,
and their warmth reached out to greet her.

Her mother was waiting for her, along with
Carlo, the old groom, and the doorman. As they
embraced her, she felt an acute sense of nostalgia.

She walked around the ground floor and said
hello to some of the guests who were playing cards
or chatting in the bar as they waited for the dining
room to open. Then she went down to the kitchen,
where the cook was making dinner—pure Ladin
cuisine—and the waiters were busy with the wines.
The big room was filled with the smell of panicia,
the local barley soup with ham and pork.

The cook, who had known Valentina since she
was born, cried, ‘Here’s my sweetheart!,” wiped her
hands on the dishcloth, flung her big arms around
her and kissed her. ‘Look what we’ve got!” she
said, and lifted a napkin to reveal a large dish full
of Valentina’s favourite sweet: cranfus mori,

cranberry pancakes. ‘Go on, take some, there’s
plenty!’

“T'hanks,” Valentina said, taking one. ‘They’re
delicious, as always.” She licked her fingers as she
walked away.

That evening, they had dinner in a room set
aside specially for them and her father only got up
a couple of times to talk to the guests at the tables,
as he usually did, and make sure that everything
was fine.

‘It you like,” her mother said during dinner, ‘you
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But they were still on the red part of the piste,
which deviated before the black did, and ended up
at the starting post at Gripfelbaum.

The manoeuvre had cost her a few precious
seconds. By now, Cinzia was nearly ninety yards
ahead of her and had disappeared behind a narrow
bend. Beyond it the piste divided in two, the
Sylvester slope became steeper, and it was quite
common to find long stretches of frozen snow.

She really had to make an ettort now.

She concentrated, slowed down her breathing,
and leaned forward, trying to put exactly the right
amount of weight on the skis.

She took the bend.

All the skiers were advancing along the easier
fork ot the piste.

She immediately realised why. A sign announced
that the Sylvester was closed for maintenance.

Cinzia had calmly ignored it.

Iypical, she thought again, throwing herself into
the gully at a speed she had never before reached.
The pines on either side were a blur, the air
whipped her face like a shower of sharp needles.

Although protected by her glasses, her eyes were
tearing, clouding her vision, but she managed to
see her triend below. She was gaining ground.

After about two miles, she had reduced the
distance between them by half and was getting
closer still.

She smiled, pleased with herself. She calculated
that she would catch up with her after another
quarter of a mile and would overtake her long
betore the finishing post.

She slowed down very slightly, to coordinate her
movements better.
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layman. But I can’t help wondering how come the
dead man’s prints weren’t on the paper. He must
have touchedit.. .’

‘Obviously the killer must have wiped them oft
afterwards,” Ferrara had said, defensively.

‘Instead of taking the paper away with him? He
starts wasting time, when someone could come 1n
at any moment and catch him red-handed? And
for what? To let everyone know that he’d
threatened him?’

Ferrara cut him short. ‘LLet me sort that out.” He
realised that he wasn’t handling this very well.

Maybe he’d have done better to show it to
Massimo, who was fond of puzzles, he’d thought at
the time.

Promising himselt he’d talk to Massimo as soon
as they got back from Vienna, Ferrara had put on a
CD of arias sung by Natalie Dessay, Petra’s latest
discovery, determined to finish the evening with
music and his wife.

2
-9

The Ferraras had not been the only ones to
interrupt their holidays.

Valentina Preti had hurried back to Bologna
from San Vigilio on 29 December, two days before
New Year’s Eve. Exactly a week after she had
arrived.

She had been close to a nervous breakdown
when she left Bologna, but by the time she got
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more like a shy, somewhat foolish schoolboy than a
companion and a support.

More than once, she had wondered if he felt
remorse for that impulsive act of sodomy and 1t
she ought to be the one to raise the question and
confront the subject, so as to have done with it
once and for all. But the truth was, she wouldn’t
have known what to say, because she herselt
didn’t know what she felt about what had
happened. Did she feel disgust or regret, had she
really suffered or had she felt a secret pleasure?
How would she react if he asked her to do it
again?

So things had dragged on, in a kind ot limbo.

% * %

‘What’s new?’ Cinzia asked, lighting a cigarette.

She looked beautiful, vivacious, her black eyes
intense, her cheeks red with the cold.

They were sitting on wooden benches at one of
the rustic tables in the bar, with their steaming
glasses of punch in front ot them. There were only
a few regulars in the bar, some distance away, and

they could talk without being either disturbed or
overheard.

“You begin.’

‘I miss you.’

‘Cinzia, we said —’

‘Okay, okay! I won’t insist. I promise. I swear.
We’re here as friends. What do you want me to
say? Bologna is a drag. The university makes me
sick, my father is more fucked up than ever, my
mother can’t stand him but pretends nothing’s
wrong. She’s so accepting. She doesn’t even have
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comfortable.

“This way,” he said.

He led the way to Lippi’s Annunciation.

‘Don’t you think it’s remarkable?’

‘The painting?”’

‘The resemblance,” he said, almost astonished
that she had not noticed it right away.

‘To the Madonna in the Uffizi, you mean?’
Valentina asked, uncomprehending.

‘No, no, they’re very different. Look closely,
doesn’t she remind you of anyone?’

She looked at the beautiful Madonna—eyes
lowered, hand raised in an eloquent gesture,
clothes softly draped in such a way as to suggest
her coming pregnancy—and still she did not
understand. Who was the Madonna supposed to
remind her of? A famous actress? A model?

She gave him a blank look.

He looked back at her, a mixture of surprise and
amusement in his eyes. ‘Don’t you ever look at
yourself in the mirror, kid?’

Valentina almost laughed out loud. Her? A
Madonna? Was he mad? If only he knew, she
thought. Maybe he was gay, maybe he wasn’t. But
there was nothing pure or holy about her! Yes, that
was something she could tell Cinzia: Valentina the
Madonna!

‘It’s you,’ he insisted, 1n all seriousness.

‘Stop 1t now,” she said, starting to get a little
annoyed. ‘Let’s go.’

The Madonna’s distracted gaze now seemed like
a silent rebuke.

‘Look at the line of the nose, the lips. The oval

shape of the face. It’s you. Even those wisps of
blonde hair emerging from beneath the headcloth,
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‘Brrr . . ." she said, playfully.

Actually, criminal psychology is one of the most
fascinating fields nowadays. Even here in Florence
there are major crimes sometimes. You remember
the Monster? What a story! I’'m still trying to find
the best way to present it to the American public. I
may even write a book about it. And in Bologna,
where you come from, isn’t there a serial killer
around right now?’

‘Let’s talk about something else, please,” she
said, seriously this time. He was right, a maniac
was killing prostitutes in Bologna. It was an
unpleasant, rather frightening subject.

‘Sure, no problem,” he said. ‘Let’s talk about
you.’

“There’s not much to say. I’'m just an ordinary
student trying to finish her studies.’

‘And after that?’

‘’'m so ordinary, I don’t know yet. I’d like to go
into films, TV, theatre, something like that. But I
could just as easily end up as an assistant in a
boutique. This is Italy, not America!’

‘You can find America anywhere. You just have
to want it. I found it in Italy.’

‘Lucky you! Anyway, it’s not true. You write for
the New York Times, not the Corriere della Sera or
La Repubblica.’

He smiled. ‘Touché. But if your country hadn’t
given me my first ideas for articles, I'd still be
paying my dues in some newsroom in New York or
Chicago.’

After dinner, he took her to the Piazzale
Michelangelo, from where they had a view of the
city similar to the one from their villa, only closer.

She especially liked to see the Arno, shimmering
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priest 1s insane, but I don’t think that’s likely. I
think there’s something else, something the
archbishop wouldn’t hesitate to cover up, if I, a
mere public official, went directly to him. You
know as well as I do that the Church has the means
to do that. There are secrets that a police

superintendent or a deputy prosecutor will never
scratch the surface of.’

They both fell silent as Signora Latini’s
speciality, the pear tart, arrived. Only Anna
Giuliett: had ordered it, not Ferrara.

‘It won’t be easy,” she said at last. ‘I can’t promise

anything. But I'll try to help you . . . if you help me
with the dessert!’

12
)

‘Simple, isn’t it?” Mike Ross said. ‘It looks quite
innocuous, like some joiner’s instrument.’

They were standing in front of the Judas Cradle,
a wooden pyramid supported by a tripod and
surmounted by an iron ring suspended on ropes
above the point of the pyramid.

The prisoner would be hung by the belt with his
feet tied, above this sharp point. By means of the
rope that secured him to the ceiling, he would be
lowered onto the point so that it penetrated his
anus—or vagina in the case of a woman.

‘There’s also a more subtle use,” he explained, as
if the illustrations and captions accompanying the
object in the exhibition at the Museum of
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carried out four of them as planned. He still has
three to go. Then he’ll have finished and he’ll
vanish for ever. He’ll probably carry on with his
normal life, as an office worker, a school principal,
a doctor, who knows?—maybe a priest.” There was
a clear insinuation in his voice as he uttered these
last words.

‘What do you mean?’

Ferrara hesitated, and looked into her eyes for a
few moments. ‘Prosecutor Giuliettl, you and I are
on the same side, aren’t we?’

‘Obviously. Always remembering that we have
different roles and prerogatives, of course.” She
was slightly on the defensive: she couldn’t see
where Ferrara was going with this.

‘Obviously,” he repeated. ‘So you could give me a
hand, if need be.’

Anna Giulietti became even more defensive. ‘In
what way?’

Ferrara told her the whole story of Don Sergio,
up to and including Father Francesco’s veiled
hints.

She followed the story with rapt attention. But
she was equally attentive to the storyteller: the
conviction 1n his eyes, the certainty in his measured
gestures, the drive in the succession of sentences
with their almost imperceptible Sicilian cadence,
the calm vigour of the foreseen conclusion. ‘Will
you help me?’

She thought 1t over. ‘Why not go to the
archbishop?’ she asked at last.

‘Because behind Don Sergio’s disappearance,
there’s something we don’t know, something even
Father Francesco doesn’t know. Something the
Church 1s trying to keep quiet. It could be that the
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There was something too savage about it. It wasn’t
just some private settling of scores. That’s my
feeling, anyway.’

‘Mine, too. But what should I do? Hope that the
killer strikes again? And how many times?’ There
was bitterness in his voice.

‘Keep your eyes open. That’s all I'm asking.
What do you know about the two murders
yesterday?’

‘Everything. I was with Alfonsi at the old man’s
place. We only just got back. Poor guy made a tull
confession. The case is in the hands of the judges
now ... The other murder, now that’s a different
story. It might turn out to be as much of a mystery
as the Micali case.’

‘In this case, too, the killer stabbed his victim in
the face and the upper part of the body.’

‘But the murder weapon was a gun. And there’s
no gay aspect, which I’'m sure 1s at the root of the
Micali murder. Alfredo Lupi was a married man
with a little child.’

“That’s true. Let’s call in Violante and Serpico
and have a brainstorming session. I don’t know if

you were told, but I've already been to the Via
Santo Spirito.’

‘Okay. I'll call them.’

While they were waiting, Ferrara asked Rizzo
how he had spent the Christmas holidays, and he
was about to reply when the telephone rang.

“There’s someone called Beccalossi on the line,’
the switchboard operator announced. ‘He asked to
speak to you or Superintendent Rizzo.’

‘Beccalossi? Who's that?’

“T'he owner of the shop where Micali worked,’
Rizzo whispered, his eyes lighting up with a sudden
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it’s better if I go and see him. Best not to make him
suspicious, after all this time.’

“You still think he had somethmg to do with 1t?’

‘No. Yes. I don’t know. I can’t see clearly. But
something tells me I need to start over again with
the first murder. And the only remaining suspect.’

They were in his office. Rizzo was sitting
opposite him, the file on the Micali murder still 1n
his hand. Ferrara was chewing his cigar, and
fidgeting with his lighter without making up his
mind to use it.

‘Is there anything you want me to do?’ Rizzo

asked.

Ferrara said nothing, lost in thought. Then he
gave him a knowing look. A cat’s look. ‘Do you
mind getting me a coffee?’

Rizzo got up and placed the file on the desk in
front of Ferrara.

He left the room.

He could have sent an officer, but he didn’t. He
wanted to be the one to get Ferrara a coffee today.

He didn’t mind doing a favour for a friend.

X S S

At six, Ferrara left headquarters.

He walked.

The Via Zara, Santa Reparata, Sant’Orsola, the
Piazza del Mercato, the Borgo La Noce, the
magnificent San Lorenzo. Then the Via de’ Conti,
part of the Via de’ Cerretani, the Via de’
Rondinelll and finally the Via de’ Tornabuoni, its

pavements strewn here and there with heaps of
dirty confetti.

The Verga bookshop.
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suppose I am,” he concluded, as they parked in an
open space in front of the petrol pump that partly
hid the entrance to the restaurant.

They were greeted by Latini himself. He was one
of the sons of the owner of the famous restaurant
of the same name in Florence. He was a short,
jovial man, who knew Ferrara well. He led them to
their table, where they were joined by his wife, an
American woman who was equally affable and
whose great contribution to the restaurant was her

superb desserts.

They ordered, but Ferrara waited until the
wonderful antipasti—including the unmissable
crostini with Colonnata lard—arrived before
asking, ‘Have you had a chance to look at my
report on the victims’ faces?’

“Yes, and I passed it on to the experts, along with
the photographs. The “r”s are perhaps a bit far-
fetched, but the “F” and the “E” are quite clear.
It’s just a theory, of course, and a horrifying one.
The 1dea of a killer playing Scrabble with the dead
IS pretty scary. If you’re right, I have to hand it to
you, you did a fantastic job. But that’s nothing
new.” She smiled. Latini’s antipasti and wine had
definitely relaxed her.

“Thanks for the compliment.’

‘It wasn’t a compliment. I don’t do compliments.
It’s the truth. And besides, I’'m sure you know that
in the game of Scrabble, the word “Ferrara” is
worth 10. The top mark ...’

Ferrara looked at her closely.

Are you surprised?’ she asked. “Why should you
be? A lot of people think you’re an outstanding
detective. I know I sometimes give you the
impression of being on your back. I’'m sorry. I can’t
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steeped in history and full of art treasures, it otfers
itself to visitors like a generous courtesan. But 1f
on the one hand it flaunts itself, on the other it
shuts itself up behind the heavy doors of its palatial
houses, jealously guarding a privacy that has to
remain inviolable, and leaving us to wonder what 1s
concealed within those walls, what memories of
past plots and betrayals.

These were the two faces of Florence. They had
cast a spell on him as soon as he had arrived, and
he knew they would keep him here to the end ot
his days—an event someone had decided to bring
about sooner than anticipated.

Perhaps, he thought, if the Latin warning turned
out to be accurate, his death, too, would be
ascribed to the vortex of mysteries that seethe
beneath the city and only occasionally bubble to
the surface, almost as if to remind the world that
evil, and only evil, is immortal and never fades.
Not even 1f you cover it with the pure, virginal
grace of a Botticelli Venus or try to crush it
beneath the weight of Michelangelo’s David.

X *k S

When he got back to Headquarters he sent for
Rizzo.

“Welcome back, chief,” Rizzo said, coming into
the office. ‘How was Vienna?’

‘Like a dream. But now it’s over. Nice way to
start the new millennium, eh?’

"We certainly finished the old one in style,” Rizzo
commented laconically. His mood seemed even
grimmer than Ferrara’s.

‘S0, nothing new on the Micalj case, I gather.’
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with the reflected lights of the river banks and
buildings. Those brown waters seemed so agitated,
so pitiless, so barely contained within the rigid
lines of the banks, she marvelled that they had not
yet swept away the Ponte Vecchio. From here, the
bridge seemed so fragile and detenceless.

Just like me, she reflected as the Porsche sped past
the Pitti Palace towards the Via Senese and then
home. There, she was sure he would make the pass
she was dreading, and she wouldn’t know how to
say no, how to tell him without hurting him that she
wasn’t interested in men, that this wasn’t the reason
she’d accepted either the apartment or his dinner
Invitation.

But she’d accepted both, she told herselt.

And now it was payback time.

She was shaking as the tyres of the Porsche
squealed on the gravel of the drive leading to the
villa.

She had stomach cramps, and her face was pale
and tense.

Are you all right?’ he asked, concerned. ‘Was 1
driving too fast?’

‘It’s probably the wine,” she said apologetically.
‘I’'m not used to it.’

They went inside the house.

‘Can you manage?’ he asked. ‘If you don’t mind,
I won’t see you upstairs. I have an article to finish
and fax by tomorrow morning. Good night.’ '

Cheering up, Valentina climbed the first flight of
stairs, looking in her handbag for the key to her
apartment as she did so.

On the second floor, sure that he hadn’t followed

her, she breathed a sigh of relief. She felt better
now. Or so she thought.
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Criminology were not enough. “The victim was
hung in such a way that he was forced to stay
awake, because as soon as he relaxed his muscles
he would fall onto the point of the pyramid just as
if he had been dropped—and with the same
results! In fact, it was also known as “the wake”. It
must have been devastating, not only physically,
but psychologically as well. Of all the exhibits here,
this one must have been the most humiliating,
don’t you think?’

Valentina did not reply. She was astonished at
the extent of his fascination with the horrific
depths to which man’s cruelty could go. The
Inquisitor’s Chair, a rough wooden armchair
bristling with spines even on the armrests, the
Heretic’s Fork, two small forks facing each other
that would be brought closer together at the level
of the neck and the chest, the tamous Virgin of
Nuremberg ... One after another, the objects
paraded before her stunned eyes. In vain, she tried
not to imagine the sufferings of the men and
women subjected to these obscene tortures over
the centuries.

The whole thing made her nauseous.

‘Let’s get out of here, please.’

‘Hey, kid. I didn’t know you were so
impressionable.’

‘Let’s go.’

Humouring her, he took her on a tour of the
enchanting medieval town, in search of a gift that
would make 1t up to her and show her the
pleasanter side of life. He found what he was
looking for in a little shop near the Piazza della
Cisterna, not far from the museum.

It wasn’t the usual tourist trap full of mass-
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Ferrara’s gaze came to rest on the buildings
opposite the shop, as if they could tell him what
they had seen. There was an arched door of
reddish wood studded with iron nails, a small shop
to 1its left, and then a little green door with a
marble name plate beside it: Physiotherapy Clinic—
2nd Floor.

Looking up, he saw someone moving at the
second floor window and rang the bell beside the
name plate.

He heard a buzz and the lock snapped open.

On the second floor he was met by a thin,
nondescript woman of about forty, wearing glasses
with take tortoiseshell frames.

‘I'm looking tor Signora Laura Nucci.’

“That’s me.’

‘Chief Superintendent Ferrara of the Squadra
Mobile. Pardon my intrusion, but I thought I saw
someone here when I was in the streetso ...

‘'ve been taking advantage of the holiday to
catch up on the backlog,” the woman explained.

‘May I ask you a few questions?’

‘Of course. Follow me.’

She led him through the deserted reception area.

‘l know you’ve already made a statement to
Chief Inspector Violante, but I’d like to question
you myself. Maybe you’ve thought of something
else in the meantime. Do you mind if we start from
the beginning?””’

‘Of course not. I’'m quite happy to cooperate. |
saw the man going into the shop, but ...’

‘Let’s just start at the beginning.’

‘Yes, of course, you’re right, I'm sorry. Well, I'd
just opened the door of the clinic. I came in, put
my handbag on the desk, the desk over there, and
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He was astonished, as always, that breakfast in
one of these bars cost almost as much as lunch, and
yet they were as full as the restaurants, where at
least you got decent food for your money.

He looked for his wallet in the wrong pocket and
realised there was something in it. It was the letter
to Father Rotondi. He had not worn this buckskin
jacket since the day he had met Valentina, and had
forgotten all about the letter.

He thought of throwing it away. He would find
another method of establishing contact. It was too
early for that anyway.

But why not keep him dangling? Smiling to
himself, he walked to a post box.

X X *

‘So this 1s the “little apartment™?’

Valentina did not know whether to be happy or
worried.

It was too good to be true. Girls as young and
attractive as her didn’t usually get their wishes
granted without having to give something in
return, especially when rich men—ot whatever
age—were involved.

Nenita had done her work well. Light flooded in
through the big windows, even on a grey overcast
day like this. The drawing room with its antique
furniture glowed, bright with luxuriant bouquets
and warmed by a blazing fire in the eighteenth-
century marble fireplace. The bedroom was large
and welcoming and looked out on a veranda
leading to a beautiful square terrace. The kitchen
was fully fitted. The bathroom was fragrant with

aromatic scents.
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briefly and in passing. I don’t put my nose Into
other people’s business, obviously.” The woman
sounded as if she was losing patience.

‘And obviously that’s the window.” He couldn’t
help himselt.

‘Yes, that one,” the woman replied curtly,
responding to his involuntary provocation.

Ferrara went to the window and looked down at
the shop. There was a good view from here, so
good that you could tell whether or not the interior
of the shop was lit. From that height, though, the
angle could be deceptive, and it wasn’t easy to
judge how tall a person was.

If only the woman had been nosier, he thought.
Or had opened the window a few minutes later,
when the person was coming out . . .

“Thank you for your help,” he said. ‘Please don’t
trouble yourself, I know the way out.’

K * *

Wrapped up warm 1n his overcoat and scarf, he
strode along the Via Santo Spirito and stopped at
the first bar-tobacconist’s he found. It was already
nearly one o’clock and the place was crowded with
tourists and locals.

At the tables and the counter, the main topic of
conversation was the murder of Alfredo Lupi.

‘I always thought there was something not quite
right about that one,” an elegant-looking woman
was saying.

‘He was a bit strange, that’s for sure,” her friend
replied. ‘But I talked to him a few times and he
seemed decent enough.’

‘It you ask me, he was mixed up in something,” a
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he cared about was his home and his family. In her
opinion, it must have been a madman, or a case of
mistaken identity. She says the reason she’s so sure
is because she knew her husband so well. They
practically grew up together, they got engaged
when they were very young ... Neither of them
had ever loved anyone else.’

‘And nothing from the shopkeepers?’

‘Nothing at all. Nobody saw the killer, although
the street’s full of people even that early in the
morning. We questioned the owner of the shop, a
man named Antonio Salustri, but he couldn’t tell
us anything either. According to him, Alfredo Lupi
was extremely loyal, totally professional, and he
trusted him completely. But that’s it. Nobody saw
anything. Or nobody wants to talk.’

‘Come on, Sergi, we’re not in Sicily or Calabria.’

‘If you say so, chief . ..

He knew what Sergi was getting at. The police
were pertectly well aware that some of those
involved 1n the antiques racket had strong
connections with the Calabrian Mafia. But it was
dangerous to jump to conclusions.

Sergi persisted. ‘You know who that shop
belonged to, betore the current owner bought it?”

‘Not if you don’t tell me.’

‘Ricciardi.’

Gualtiero Ricciardi had been one of the most
important art and antiques dealers in Florence
from the late seventies to the mid-nineties, and
had amassed a considerable fortune. He and his
wite had died in a fire that had almost destroyed an
entire floor of their villa. They had been asleep at
the time. Arson had been suspected, but the
arsonist had never been found. In fact, it had been
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‘I’m the one she doesn’t trust, not you. Read the
last sentence! Anyway, that’s her business. She’s
following Gallo’s orders. Forget about it. How’s
our investigation going?’

‘We’re interviewing some of the people whose
names appear in the diaries. Do you want to sit in?’

‘No, I'll leave it to you. I’'m going to Greve. Don
Sergio has disappeared, and [ want to know what’s
going on.’

‘Disappeared? What do you mean?’

‘He’s not in the parish any more. Ascalchi found
out about it yesterday, but that’s all he was able to
discover.’

‘So it could be him! Shouldn’t we alert the
transport police, the airports, the borders —’

“Wait, let’s hold our horses. It’s curious, though,
isn’t it? By the way, Rizzo ...’

“Yes?’

‘We’re definitely dealing with a single killer, and
he wants me dead. I have proof.’

And he told Rizzo about the discovery he had
made the previous night.

¥ * & 3

‘Hello, father.’

‘Hello, my son.’

‘Could I ask you a few questions?’

‘If you're not trying to sell me something, or tell
me what to watch on TV, I’'m all yours. The Lord
gave us ears to listen.’

‘Can you tell me where I can find Don Sergio
Rotondi?’

Father Francesco gave a sad, doleful smile.
He finished arranging flowers in front of a little
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both his observations at the crime scene and the
results of the forensic tests.

According to Violante’s hypothesis the killer had
attacked the victim from the back, standing to the
left of him. Falling to the floor, Alfredo Lupi had
banged his head and rolled over onto his back,
exposing his chest to further blows. The wounds on
the front part of the body had bled less than those
on the back, a sign that they had been struck in the
final phase of the attack, by which time the victim
was already dead.

Ferrara closed the file and went on to the other,
which bore the stamp of the Regional Oftfice of
Forensics.

[t contained dozens of photographs and two thin,
typewritten pages. No useful prints had been tound
at the scene ot the crime other than those of the
victim, nor had anything significant been found in
the proximity of the corpse. The only positive
result was that of the ballistics test: the weapon
used was a model 92 Beretta equipped with a
silencer.

Not an uncommon weapon. Almost legendary, in
fact. It was used by various police forces around
the world, as well as the United States army,
because of its stability and precision. It was a semi-
automatic which normally took Ilethal 9mm
Parabellum cartridges. The 92F model was the one
used by the Italian armed forces, Carabinieri and

police—as well as by a large part of the
underworld.

loo common to be a useful clue, Ferrara thought.

The photographs showed the victim’s mutilated
face from different angles, the scene of the crime
with the corpse still on the floor in the position in
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a casual acquaintance of Biagini’s, a distinctly
camp individual named Pietro. He and Biagini had
met by chance at a bookstall in Santa Maria
Novella station while he was looking at the covers
of photography magazines. It had turned out that
they were both keen on photography, and Pietro
had given Biagini some advice on which magazines
to buy. They had subsequently met a tew more
times. According to Pietro, Biagini often went to
the Cascine, whereas he himself only went there
sometimes on Sundays.

‘If you don’t go to the Cascine very much, how do
you know that Biagini went there often?’ Sergi
asked.

‘He told me, didn’t he? He said if I ever needed
him and he wasn’t at home I could find him there.
One time I went there and he was there. That was
when I realised!’

“T'hat he was gay, you mean?’

“Yes.’

‘Like you?’ Rizzo asked.

‘Look—I know that to people like you ... But
there’s nothing wrong with it, okay? I’'m gay and
[’'m not ashamed of it. On the contrary. I’'m proud,
right? I lead a regular life, I have a job, I’ve never
hurt a fly.’

My God, Serpico thought. At least one person who
Saysh it loud and clear, without beating about the
bush.

‘Did you have intimate relations with Giovanni
Biagini?’ Rizzo asked.

‘No way! He really wasn’t my type. I liked talking
to him, that’s all, especially about photography.’

‘Do you know of any particular friend of
Gilovanni’s? Someone he saw often, someone he
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Still he said nothing.

‘It doesn’t matter, you know. It doesn’t
matter ...’

Mike Ross lifted his head. His cold eyes had
become bright and intense, wet with tears of guilt.

For a long time, they lay staring into each other’s
eyes.

Then she noticed that something was moving

between them, starting to press against her belly.
She smiled.

He smiled too, shyly, uncertainly.

Valentina put one arm around his shoulders and

slid the other between their bodies. To guide him
to the right spot.

7
).

Death always wins in the end.

It plays for a while with its prey

And then swallows it.

Like a cat with a mouse.

Which one of us is the cat?

You certainly don’t have many lives left.
Four down, three to go!

The contents of the letter were imprinted on
Ferrara’s photographic memory. The letter itselt
was still in his office. He had a photocopy 1n his
pocket.

It had come to Police Headquarters this time,
not to his home. It had been logged along with the
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reverence and a touch of dismay. He felt as if the
sharp, intense eyes of the clergyman in the
painting, staring out of the dark background as if
lit by an inner light, were staring back at him,
judging him, following him when he moved.

‘It was behind the bookcase, chief, propped up
against the wall,” Ascalchi said, pointing to a piece
of furniture next to an old desk cluttered with
papers. “We moved it and saw there was something
wrapped in sheets of newspaper. We took them off
and here 1t 1s.’

‘Good work, boys. It should be plain sailing from
now on. I'll phone the Prosecutor immediately and
update him. In the meantime, carry on searching,
we may find something else. Sergi, check to make
sure Salustri has been detained.’

S S S

At 3 p.m., Ferrara was travelling along the
autostrada on the way to Ponte Chiasso. Rizzo,
Sergi and two other officers were 1n a car behind
him.

Before leaving, Ferrara had faxed the warrant for
Antonio Salustri’s arrest on the charge of receiving
stolen goods. In the car with him was Prosecutor
Gallo, who would want to interview Salustri in
person as soon as the judge in Como, who had
already been informed, had endorsed the warrant.

What with the long journey and the time spent
on legal procedures, it was already after nine in the
evening before they finally found themselves
sitting opposite the accused man at the Remand

Centre in Como. |
‘Signor Salustri, I am the Public Prosecutor ot
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many anonymous letters that arrive almost every
day, denouncing, threatening, claiming real
crimes—or more often imaginary ones—and then,
as it was addressed to him directly, 1t had been
brought to his office.

Ferrara had immediately connected it to the two
others. Instinctively, for no particular reason, even
though it was quite different in both form and
content. It hadn’t been put together from letters
cut out of a newspaper, nor had it been typed on a
computer keyboard. It was handwritten: to
Ferrara, a clear sign that the killer was gaining in
confidence and becoming ever more defiant.

There was no longer any doubt in his mind. The
three murders had been committed by the same
person, and the final target was him. The letter
stated clearly that there was already a fourth
victim, or would be. Then two more. And finally
him.

It was still possible that this was the same person
who had led the Monster and his accomplices, but
he was inclined to rule it out.

S S S

The thought that the killer might be committing
his latest crime at that very moment made the air
inside the blue Alfa 166 even more stifling. Ferrara
and the Commissioner were on their way to see the
Prosecutor. They had both been summoned,
separately, by Gallo in person, to an emergency
meeting. It was a summons that Ferrara was duty
bound to respond to, and Riccardo Lepri wouldn’t
have missed for anything in the world. From the
Prosecutor’s tone, he had gathered that Gallo had
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Naturally he is also at our disposal to provide
technical support and specialised personnel it we
judge 1t necessary.

‘As I’ve indicated, the subject of this meeting 1s
an examination of the type of criminal known as
the serial killer. More specifically, I’d like to look
more closely at the murders that have been taking
place in Florence, within our jurisdiction, in the
light of the theory put forward by Chief
Superintendent Ferrara that these crimes are In
fact the work of a serial killer.’

‘One of the theories,” Ferrara said.

‘Of course,” Gallo conceded. ‘But you’re an
expert. You’ve already had to deal with similar
cases, unless I’'m mistaken?”’

“You’re not mistaken.’

‘So I assume your theory has some basis in fact.
Based on your experience, what, in your opinion, 1s
the likelihood that the murders of Micali, Lupi and
Bianchi are the work of one person—that is, of a
serial killer?’

‘One hundred percent.. .’

His words were greeted with an astonished
murmur. Given that his previous remark had
suggested a note of caution, they sounded
exaggerated, even provocative.

‘One hundred per cent that they’re the work of
one person, Ferrara continued serenely. ‘Only fifty
per cent that he’s a so-called serial killer.’

Gallo raised his eyebrows. ‘If there’s only one
killer, surely we have to consider him a serial killer.
Unless you have any evidence, of which we’re not
aware, that there’s a connection between the
victims that has nothing to do with their being
homosexuals, but involves some kind of
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‘The prior is expecting you in the chapter room.’
Don Sergio knew the way. He went along the
cloister until just before the church and knocked at

a door.

‘Come 1n.’

The large, austere chapter room was exactly as
he remembered it: the bare stone walls, adorned
with nothing but a single large wooden crucifix, the
arched windows placed close to the ceiling. Abbot
Anselmo was sitting halfway along the east wall.
He was alone, the stone seats to his right and left
empty. He was a short, thin man, and he seemed
lost in all that space, but Sergio Rotondi knew that
he could dominate 1t with his energy.

‘It really is true that the ways of the Lord are
infinite, brother,” he saild when Sergi had come
closer. ‘Who would ever have imagined that we
would see you again?’

‘How are you?’ Don Sergio asked.

As you see me. Healthy, and happy that I’m still
able to serve the Lord.’

‘I'm pleased to hear that. Is everything ready?’

‘Just as His Eminence arranged.’

“Thank you.’

‘Come, I'll show you to your cell.’

*x k X

Valentina had phoned Mike from the train, but
couldn’t get through to his mobile. She had then
tried his home number, but had only managed to

speak to Nenita who had answered all her
questions with the words ‘No home’.

At the station she had taken a taxi.
‘He’s gone,” Nenita had tried to explain when she
256





index-338_1.png





index-60_1.png





index-132_1.png





index-201_1.png





index-268_1.png
On one of the walls in the kitchen Valentina had
noticed a rack on which hung what she supposed
were duplicate keys for the whole house, and for a
second she had been tempted to grab the key to
the first floor when Nenita’s back was turned. But
her courage had tailed her.

Sunday had been the saddest day. That week
spent alone had made her realise how much she
missed Mike: she had hardly thought about Cinzia.
She still did not know what she really felt for this
man who seemed so self-assured and at the same
time so shy and elusive, but she had decided there
was only one way to find out: make love with him
again.

So when, on Monday evening, Mike phoned
from the airport to say that he was on his way back
and that the next day he would finally keep his
promise and take her to San Gimignano to

celebrate, Valentina fell asleep happy, full of plans
for seduction.

11
~D

On the morning of Thursday 9 March, Chief
Superintendent Ferrara found a document on his
desk tull of detailed requests from the Prosecutor’s
Department regarding the investigation.

Deputy Prosecutor Giulietti wasn’t wasting any
time. She seemed determined to make clear who

was 1n charge from now on. The document asked
for:
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PART THREE

THE HUNT
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come to Florence straight away.’ |
‘But what did you tell him? That we’d found 1t?’

‘No, I didn’t, but that’s what he understood at
first. So I explained that we still had a lot to do and
that we’d keep him informed. But he was beside
himself. His parishioners, which means basically the
whole village, have been desperate since the
painting was stolen. They consider it part of their
heritage.’

‘Did you ask him what the painting looks like?”’

‘Yes. It’s from the seventeenth century, and 1t’s
attributed to the famous Spanish painter Diego
Velazquez—according to him, one of the greatest
portrait painters of all time.’

‘What’s the subject?’ Ferrara asked, impatiently.

‘It’s the portrait of a priest or a monk, wearing a
dark cloak and holding an open book in his hands.
Next to him, on his right, there’s a big bird that you
can’t see clearly, some kind of condor. The colours
are very dark, he said.’

‘Good. Keep your fingers crossed, this could turn
out to be very useful.’

S k *

In the monitoring room at the Prosecutor’s
Department, the recorder again indicated that
Salustri’s phone was ringing. It rang only twice this
time, and when the voices came on the line, they
were the same voices as on the previous Sunday. A
week had passed: it was 11.03 p.m. on Sunday 23

January. Rizzo and Sergi had been waiting with the
duty othicer for the call to come.

The mechanism was already in place to trace the
call within a few minutes. All switchboards were
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important.’

‘Go on.’ |
‘My client here, Signor Salustri, is the owner of

the antique shop where Alfredo Lupi was
murdered.’

‘1 know that. I haven’t yet had the pleasure of
meeting him personally.’

Salustri, a man in his fifties with a pale, drawn
face, said nothing. He was carefully avoiding direct
cye contact with Ferrara.

‘After all this time, the shop is still sequestrated
property,” the lawyer said. ‘As I'm sure you must
realise, my client 1s losing a great deal of money.
What should he do? The shop is the only source ot
income for him and his family.’

‘I understand, Signor Biffi, but you know I can’t
do anything. Signor Salustri has come here several
times to ask for the sequestration order to be
lifted, and he’s been told that he must apply to the
Prosecutor’s Department. The premises are the
responsibility of the legal authorities, 1t’s not up to
us.’

‘Obviously I know that, but I also know that the
Prosecutor’s Department won’t hand back
sequestrated property, especially if there’s a
murder involved, unless they receive a favourable
opinion from those conducting the investigation.
We're dealing with a human tragedy here. My client
hasn’t committed any crime, yet he’s suffering a
grievous wrong.’

Salustri intervened for the first time. ‘I’m ruined,
Superintendent,” he said, still without looking
Ferrara in the eyes. That was one thing that
irritated Ferrara: the other was his voice, artfully
made to sound cracked in order to inspire pity.
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become famous in the media for a number of
major operations, including the liberation of the
American general James Lee Dozier on 28 January
1982. The members of NOCS were highly trained
In the use of firearms, precision shooting and
assault techniques. They were distinguished from
other police officers by their special black
tracksuits, as well as their powerful athletic builds.

A member of the forensics team stood ready to
work the projector which had been placed in the
centre of the room, pointing towards a white
screen to the right of the table where the three
superintendents had taken their places.

The aim of the meeting was to prepare their raid
on the villa in Bellosguardo down to the smallest
detail. Photographs of the villa taken at dawn from
a helicopter and land registry maps would be
projected on the screen.

Ferrara opened the meeting.

He started by explaining the nature of the
operation and the objective: to enter the villa and
capture a dangerous killer.

An image of the villa appeared on the screen. It
was surrounded by an extensive garden protected
by high walls.

‘Right, this is the place,” he said. “The wall will
have to be manned on both sides of the gate betore
we go in.” He went up to the screen and pointed
out the positions with a wooden stick. ‘Inspector
Venturi has already inspected the area, and he’ll
put one officer on each side. They’ll have to be
placed so that they can keep visual contact
between them.

‘When they’re in position, I'll ring at the gate. If
it’s opened, I'll go in in an armoured car, along
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She looked through the window and the white
linen curtain. Mike was sitting comfortably in an
armchair, his feet propped on a small, low marble
table, 1n front of the television. The discussion she
had heard was coming from the programme he was

watching.

She knocked on the glass.

Surprised, Mike got up, came to the French
windows and opened them.

‘H1,” he said. He seemed embarrassed.

‘May I come 1n?’ she asked.

‘Sure, come in. You’ve never been in the lion’s
den betore.’

“You’ve never asked me.’

‘It didn’t seem right.’

"Well, now I’ve summoned up the courage to do
it myselt. But I had to talk to you. We need to
settle our accounts, 1t’s been a month already.’

“T'hat’s true. Sit down.” He switched off the TV
with the remote control.

"What was that?’ Valentina asked.

A tape | recorded last year. A programme about
the Monster of Florence.’

Are you still thinking of writing a book? Were
they talking about black magic? It might be useful
for my thesis.’

‘I you like, I can switch it on again.’

‘Maybe later. Let’s talk first.’

‘Okay. Can I fix you a drink?’

‘No, thanks.’

‘Cottee, tea?’

beautiful inlaid surface and took out a bottle of
whisky and a glass for himself.
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Ferrara spread the photographs on his desk and
examined the faces through a powerful magnitying
glass. Knowing what to look for now, he had no
difficulty identifying the ‘A on Cinzia Robertr’s
face, half-hidden among the other wounds. He was
puzzled, though. He would have expected to find
that letter somewhere on the body of Valentina
Preti, who had been killed first, and an ‘r’ on
Cinzia’s.

It was a troubling detail, but not enough to dent
his certainty that he was on the right track. It was
nearly 9.30: time for the meeting.

‘Anything wrong?’ Polito asked.

‘No, let’s go,” Ferrara said. ‘No point waiting any
longer.’ |

X K X

The Squadra Mobile’s conterence room was not
large enough to accommodate all those who had
been summoned, and Ferrara had decided to hold
the meeting in the reception room on the second
floor which was normally used for special
occasions, especially by the Commissioner. About
six hundred square feet furnished in a modern
style, 1ts walls adorned with historical paintings on
loan from the regional heritage board.

Ferrara sat down with Rizzo and Polito at the
long conference table. Facing them, occupying the
first rows of seats, were some thirty men, including
inspectors. There were also a few marksmen sent
all the way from Rome: that was due to Carracci,
contacted by Ferrara the night before. They were
from NOCS, the special forces unit usually brought
In to deal with high-risk situations, who had
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No signs of life from inside.’

Ferrara rang the bell at the gate twice. There was
no reply. He ordered the gate to be forced.
Everything went according to plan. They swept
into the grounds and reached the front door. As
they had half expected, it was made of metal. The
NOCS men blew it open and within a couple of
minutes, they were inside the villa and proceeding
as ordered.

The portable radios immediately started to
crackle. Every message said the same thing: there
was no one in the house. So there was no exchange
ot fire, no escape, no arrest. Nothing.

They went ahead with the search of the house 1n
a completely different frame of mind.

On the first floor, only one room seemed to have
been refurbished, and it was the only room with a
light switch that worked.

‘Chief, come here,” Ferrara heard through his
headphones.

It was Rizzo, who must be on the first floor.

Ferrara and Sergi went upstairs. With all the
windows and doors flung open, daylight now
illuminated the corridors and stairs.

‘Careful, Sergi,” Ferrara said, stopping him from
treading on a couple of stairs stained with
something red that looked like congealed blood. ‘I
want a man to stay here and make sure no one
steps on that.’

Rizzo greeted Ferrara on the first floor. ‘“There’s
something you should see, chief. Follow me.” He

led him along the corridor.
‘What 1s 1t?’
‘You’ll see. We’re nearly there.’
Ferrara followed him into the one intact room on
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‘What about my bureau de change,
Superintendent?’

‘I said you could go, didn’t 1?” Ferrara’s tone left
him in no doubt: he had lifted that threat, at least

for the moment.

K k X

‘We ought to find out where the Velazquez was
stolen from,” Ferrara said as soon as Sergi had
returned. ‘It would be nice if we could get hold of a
photo or, failing that, a good description. We need
to get authorisation from the Prosecutor to remove
the seals from the shop. We can always tell him we
have to carry out another search to see if the
painting 1s still there.’

‘I1t’ll be there,” Serpico said. ‘Salustri comes here
almost every day to ask when he can get his shop
back. The last time he did, they sent him to me. I
told him he’d have to apply to the Prosecutor’s
Department, maybe with a request from a lawyer,
and that in any case he’d be able to ask for
compensation for the loss of earnings. He was
really upset, said he’d be reduced to stealing in
order to live, things like that.’

‘It couldn’t be clearer, could 1t? We need to keep
an eye on this Salustri. I want him watched twenty-
four hours a day, in shifts. And I want a tap on his
phones.’

‘How do we present the request to the
Prosecutor? We can’t tell him what we found out
from Dieni or from Pino’s friend. How do we
justity a phone tap?’

‘We won’t say we suspect Salustri, just that we
may get a tew leads from listening in on his calls,
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‘Come on, Ascalchi, I'm not in the mood tor
jokes. What the hell are you trying to tell me?”

‘I’'m not joking, chief. He left on February 3rd,
and never came back. He’s already been replaced.’

February 3rd, Ferrara thought. The day after the
Bianchi murder.

‘Did you talk to the parish priest?’

‘Of course, but he won’t open up. Says he doesn’t
know where Don Sergio went. He left without
saying a word to anyone. Not even to his relatives,
apparently.’

‘Impossible. A priest doesn’t just vanish into thin
air. The parish priest must know where he 1s. Why
won’t he say?’

‘Maybe he doesn’t trust Romans. He swore over
and over that he was just as surprised as anyone.’

‘And did you believe him?’

“You want the truth? Not in the slightest. But you
didn’t say I could use strong arm tactics . . . In fact,
I didn’t even tell him I was a policeman, like you
saild. But 1if you want me to, I can go back
tomorrow and —’

‘No, no, forget it. You did very well. If I want you
to go back, I'll let you know. Or else I'll go myself.
Anyway, you can go now.’

In the corridor, Ascalchi said as he passed an
officer, “‘Who rubbed him up the wrong way?’ and
they both laughed.

% X x

"Chiet, chiet!” Venturi came running after Ferrara.

[t was nine o’clock, and he was on his way out.

The Headquarters building was almost deserted,

and the inspector’s steps echoed in the corridor.
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‘"We’ll take over,” the NOCS commander said, as
if the scene had been rehearsed. ‘We’ll use
explosive charges. It’ll only take a few seconds.’

‘Good,” Ferrara said. ‘Now we come to the
trickiest part. I want you all to listen very carefully
because we can’t afford the slightest error. Once
we’re inside, six officers, equipped with night sights
and rifles, will immediately take up position, two
on each floor, check that the corridors are basically
safe, then provide cover for their colleagues to go
in and search.’

Ferrara, Rizzo and Polito, each at the head of a
team, would simultaneously enter and search the
rooms on all three floors—Ferrara on the ground
floor, Rizzo on the first floor and Polito on the
second.

While Ferrara explained the operations inside
the villa, the man from forensics projected images
from the land registry maps showing the internal
structure of the villa and the layout of the rooms.

‘One very important thing,” Ferrara said. ‘“To
communicate among ourselves, we’ll use portable
radios equipped with earphones. As we don’t want
anyone listening in, we’ll be using a private
frequency.’

He knew the press often listened in to police
frequencies to keep up to date, and he had no
desire for them to know what was happening in the

villa.
‘Will there still be anyone outside the wvilla?’

Rizzo asked.

‘One man on each side to make sure no one
throws anything out of the windows or shoots at us
or tries to escape. We already have people outside
the perimeter wall, but we need to keep an eye on
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have 1dealised versions of ourselves, to which we
aspire, although most of the time we fall short of
these 1deals.

Michele Giuttari, November 2006
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of investigators trying to track down the person
responsible for instigating the murders and to cast
light on the death of Dr Francesco Narducci of
Perugia, which is believed to be linked to the case.
The preliminary investigations into the ‘instigator’
have now been concluded, and a judge’s decision 1s
currently being awaited on the possibility of a
trial being held. In the meantime, I am still
collaborating with the Prosecutor’s Department 1n
Perugia.

After writing two Chief Superintendent Michele
Ferrara books, with another at planning stage,
[ completed The Monster: Anatomy of an
Investigation, a non-fiction book about the Monster
of Florence case, in order to leave a documentary
record of an affair which is unique, not only In
[taly, but in the world.

Although A Florentine Death 1s a work of
imagination, some of it is inspired by real events.
The 1nhabitants of Ali Superiore will recognise
the episode where the Velazquez painting is
handed back to them, because it really happened,
although the circumstances in which the painting
was found were quite different. There was an
edition of the Italian TV show Porta a Porta which
dealt with the Monster of Florence case and in
which I myselt participated. The police siege of a
house 1n Reggio Calabria in which a meeting of
the heads of the Calabrian Mafia was taking place
1S also a real event. Everything else is fictitious,
and any reference to real people and events is
purely coincidental. Michele Ferrara is not me. Of
course he and I are alike, in that we have the same
protession, but he is the Giuttari I might like to
be, although I almost never succeed. I think we all
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as were violent assaults, often with no discernable
motive. Another area, closer to where the murder
had taken place, was frequented by gay men and
rent boys. The rent boys were often young men
from the provinces, from other towns in Tuscany,
or from abroad, and men from all walks of life
and social classes cruised there more or less
regularly. This part of the park was the most
1solated.

Near to the main entrance was the traditional
spot for female prostitutes.

Lastly, the tar end of the Cascine, the least well
lit and the hardest to keep an eye on, was the area
chosen for gay sexual encounters that weren’t
necessarilly mercenary, and was frequented by
couples of all ages. This was where the murder had
taken place.

For a while now, Headquarters had been
compiling lists of all those who frequented the
park.

The purpose was not so much to eliminate the
phenomenon, which by now had reached such
proportions it was impossible to suppress, as to
find ways of preventing criminal acts, especially
senseless acts of violence.

When the officers had left, Ferrara called for
Inspector Venturi, who was the best in his squad at
searching through the records, and gave him the
job of carrying out a thorough check of the
computer files on the Cascine. Then he sent for

Ascalchi.

k X k

‘[ have a particularly tricky job for you.’
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mouth for the first time. ‘That’s what 1t was.
Mistaken identity or a robber. It’s more likely to
have been a robber. In Florence these days, we’re
not safe in our houses any more. It’s not like it
used to be, we used to leave our front doors open.
But with all the crime these days ... Not to
mention the drug addicts, who’d do anything to get
money. Even kill. But I don’t have to tell you. You
know it as well as I do. Florence has changed. It’s
become as dangerous as any other city.’

True, Sergi thought. Unfortunately that was how
it was. Florence wasn’t just a picture postcard
image. It moved at the same speed, and had the
same concerns and the same vices, as every other
major city in the world.

X S S

A similar picture had emerged from interviews
with Giovanni Biagini’s neighbours. All this was
reported to Ferrara, who in the meantime had sent
out teams to gather what information they could in
the area where the murder had taken place.

It was an area notorious for the suspicious
characters who frequented it, and this wasn’t the
hirst time 1t had been the subject of police
attention. The Parco delle Cascine was a long strip
of land, bounded like an island by the waters of the
Arno, whose territory was very strictly divided
according to the various sexual ‘specialities’ on
offer.

On one side there were the transsexuals with
their clients and those drawn there by curiosity.
This was the most crime-ridden part of the park.
Bag-snatching and other robberies were common,
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passed on to him.

‘Wait, did you see him well? Can you give me a
fuller description?’

‘Oh God, I didn’t really take much notice of him.
I have to admit, I was more interested in the girl.
Poor thing . . . But Rita sold him an expensive pen.
She must have got a better look at him than I did.’

‘Let me speak to her.’

‘Is it important?’

‘Let me speak to her, Massimo.’

He was shaking as he waited for Rita to come on
the line.

‘Hi, Superintendent, how are things?’

‘Rita, do you remember the man who came into
the shop on October 1st and bought a pen? He was
with a pretty girl ..’

‘“Valentina Preti, poor thing, I read about it. Tell
me, Superintendent, I'm all ears.’

‘What about him? Do you remember him?’

‘Hard to forget him. Especially his eyes—hard,
cold as ice.’

‘What else? Can you describe him to me?’

‘More than six feet tall, athletic build, short fair
hair, dyed in my opinion, very light grey eyes,
foreign accent, English or American, more likely
American, I’d say. Smartly dressed, rich obviously,
look at the car he was driving. Can you imagine?
He parked it outside for nearly half an hour, didn’t
give a damn about the ticket.’

It wasn’t possible. He couldn’t believe his ears.
He’d never had so much luck all in one go.

‘What . . .”—he hesitated, like someone about to
place a bet at the roulette table, knowing for sure
he has the right number but afraid the wheel might
jam at the last moment—*‘what ticket?”
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‘Hi, Valentina,” she heard in the distance. The
girl was giggling, perhaps sarcastically. Or else
quite innocently.

All the same, she felt offended, humiliated.

She hated this Chiara, even though she didn’t
know her.

‘Is everything really all right?’

‘Absolutely fine, don’t worry. How’s your
course?’

‘Okay.’

‘And what about . . . your American friend?’

‘He’s . . .” She held back. ‘He’s harmless. Really.
I’ll introduce you. He’s a nice man, he’s never tried
anything. It hasn’t even occurred to him.’

‘Either he’s gay, Vale, or your charms are failing.’

‘Not all men are the same!” she protested. Later,
she would wonder why she’d felt such an
immediate need to detend him.

‘No, but they all want the same thing. You know
that, don’t you?’

‘Not him, I can guarantee it. You ought to meet
him, I'd like you to meet him. You’d change your
mind about him.’

‘It that’s the only way to see you again, I’d bear
even that.’

Valentina’s heart skipped a beat. But if she really
wanted that, why was she being so aggressive?

‘It’s not the only way, you know.’

‘But you’ve never been back to Bologna. It’s
February 7th now. More than a month.’

She ftelt guilty. ‘You’ve never come to Florence
cither,” she protested weakly, knowing that the
fault was all hers.

Or maybe not all hers. Who was this Chiara?
‘Our home is here, not there.’.
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was a dear friend and I miss him a lot—but I don’t

know anything else.’
‘All right, thank you. You can go now.’

k X S

Ferrara immediately asked the Prosecutor for
permission to tap Gori’s phone. Gallo, relieved
that things had started moving again, had no
hesitation in issuing the authorization. They
weren’t dealing just with an anonymous tip-oft any
more, there were concrete facts now that needed
to be confirmed as soon as possible. It was even 1n
Gori’s best interests, so that they could eliminate
him from their inquiries.

That was why Ferrara had preferred not to ask
him what he had been doing on the morning of 31
December. They’d be in a better position to tackle
that question, if they had to, once they knew a bit
more.

Two officers were sent to Cortina to find out
about the last time the couple had stayed there,
others made discreet inquiries about Gori’s other
relationships, and his wife was questioned, as was
Lupi1’s widow for the second time.

But 1t all led nowhere. As the days went by, the
initial burst of optimism gradually gave way to a
sense of frustration.

Antonio Gori turned out to have no connection
with the murder, and Lupt’s wife was completely
unaware of her husband’s double life. Ferrara took
care not to reveal 1t to her, convinced as he was

that knowing about it would only make her grief
harder to bear.

On Monday 21 February
170
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Next morning, when she leaned out of the
window, she saw Mike’s Porsche parked outside,
next to her Panda.

That cheered her up. She went down to the
garden and walked up to the kitchen window.
Inside, the Filipino woman was bustling about with
the pots and pans.

‘Nenita,” she called as softly as she could, in
order not to wake Mike, who must still be asleep.

‘Yes?’ the woman replied, gesturing to her to go
to the door, which she ran to open.

‘I’'m sorry, Nenita, but what’s on the first floor?’

‘Sorry, madam, no understand,” Nenita replied,
smiling.

“The first floor.’

‘Yes?” Nenita said again.

‘What’s up there?’ Valentina insisted, pointing
upwards. ‘First floor!’

‘Oh yes, first floor,” Nenita replied, smiling
broadly to indicate that she had understood. ‘That
1s first floor.’

‘Yes, but . . . what’s on the first floor?’

‘Sorry, signora ...” Nenita smiled and shrugged
her shoulders.

‘I see, you don’t understand.’

Valentina left the house exasperated. ‘If you need
anything, just ask Nenita,” she repeated to herself,
mimicking Mike’s accent. ‘Oh, you can ask all
right, but she doesn’t understand a word!”

She decided she’d have it out with Mike when
she got back from university . . .

S X S

The assistant professor’s class focused on the first
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‘Right.’

‘I’'ve been thinking about it all day. I was sure I'd
seen her before and then I remembered. I lent her
an old book, the Necronomicon by Abdul
Alhazred, and she never gave it back. Mind you, 1t
wasn’t valuable.’

‘You knew her?’ Ferrara asked, astonished.

‘Not really. She came to the shop on October 1st
last year. You remember, it was the day Stetano
Micali was murdered. Probably just a coincidence,
but that’s why I decided to call you. Well, that’s
one reason. The other is that she told me she was
studying arts, music and drama but was thinking ot
coming to live in Florence to do a course on
popular theatre in the Renaissance. They must
know something about her at the university, don’t
you think?’

‘Good 1dea. I'll pass it on to Polito, who’s 1n
charge ot the case. He’ll be grateful to you. Was
she really pretty?’

“Very.’

‘And I guess you couldn’t resist. Was she on her
own? Did you flirt with her?’

“Yes, but 1t was a hopeless case, my friend. My
days as a Latin lover are long over. It’s a young
man’s world. She was alone when she came into
the shop, but she’d been given a lift by a guy in a
huge Porsche. A flashy dresser, this guy, and he
still had sunglasses on even though it was seven
o’clock in the evening. One of those tall, blond
guys you see on fashion posters, you know? What
can a poor old Sicilian do in a situation like that,
however good-looking and —’

Ferrara had stopped listening. The description
was practically identical to the one Polito had
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informed him that another prostitute had been
found murdered in Bologna—Ferrara realised that
the only thing they knew for certain after all this
activity was that Lupi had been gay. With all that
this discovery implied.

Just like Bologna, Florence had its very own
serial killer.

Gianni Ascalchi summed up the situation with a
crude comment which was to remain famous for a
long time at Police Headquarters: “What a mess!
The Bolognese are butchering whores, the
Florentines are slicing queers; I'd have done better
staying in Rome.’

6
)

That night Valentina slept badly.

In her sleep she thought she heard tootsteps on
the floor below, someone breathing heavily,
mournfully.

When she had gone to bed, about midnight,
Mike Ross was still out. Being all on her own i1n
that big, isolated villa was an unnerving
experience. Especially since, following the advice
of that bookseller—advice that had been greeted
with enthusiasm by her supervisor in Bologna and
the assistant professor in Florence—she had been
immersing herself in the study of Renaissance
magic, and would drop off to sleep thinking about
being burned at the stake and priests officiating at

human sacrifices. . .
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dressed, scented, but not effeminate.

‘Good evening. Please take a seat.’

‘What’s this all about? Why have you asked me
here at this hour? The officer who delivered the
summons didn’t give me any explanation. He just
told me you wanted to talk to me.’

‘That’s right. I have to ask you some questions
and take a statement from you.’

‘A statement?’ the man said in surprise.

‘Did you know Alfredo Lupi?’ Ferrara asked,
abruptly. ‘Before you answer, I want you to know
that we haven’t called you in at random. We have
evidence that pointed us in your direction.’

‘l knew it, I knew it!” He shook his head
disconsolately. ‘Yes, I knew poor Altredo and I'm
very upset about what happened to him.’

‘So why didn’t you come to us of your own free
will?’

‘Why? Should I have? I had nothing to do
with ...

‘How did you meet?’ Ferrara asked, implacably.

‘It happened about three years ago . ..” He broke
off.

‘It’s all right, Signor Gori! You can talk freely
here. Tell us the truth. If you have nothing to
hide . .’

‘It’s not that. I don’t have anything to hide. It’s
just that 1t’s not easy to explain.’

‘It’s okay. We’re adults, you can talk freely. Don’t
be atraid—we’re not charging you with anything.
We have some information, and we’re hoping you
can confirm 1t, and perhaps even clarify it for us.
That’s all.’

‘T’ll tell you what you want to know, but can we
keep 1t confidential? I wouldn’t like my family to
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handcuffs on other men’s wrists?

% % %

‘Congratulations, Violante,” Ferrara said on the
morning of Monday 14 February. ‘Excellent work!’

He was genuinely pleased. Full of admiration,
too. This short-sighted, nondescript little man,
who all too often seemed like a shirker, was
actually one of those pillars on whom the whole
apparatus of the State rests, even if nobody knew,
or wanted to know about him.

‘Betore we summon this Gori, check him out as
much as you can.’

‘I've already put Inspector Venturi onto it, chiet.’

Ferrara looked at him again with respect,
regretting the fact that he would soon be leaving
them.

K * *

Over the next two days Inspector Venturi
discovered that Alfredo Lupi and Antonio Gori
had indeed been seeing each other regularly tor

some time.

Ferrara decided it was time to question him. It
had to be done immediately, before Gori had had
time to think of an alibi. The judge wouldn’t
authorise a phone tap on the basis of an
anonymous call, especially one that hadn’t even
been recorded. It wasn’t enough to go on. So he
asked Gori to come in that evening, Wednesday
16th.

‘Good evening, Chief Superintendent!’

Antonio Gori was short, well shaven, neatly
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immediately, turning to Ferrara. ‘“Take it to the
garage at Headquarters and have forensics take a

look at 1t.’

Ferrara gave the order.
Then he called Sergi. ‘Take a team to search

Biagini’s apartment and interview his family, if he
has any. Try to find out what he was doing in the
hours before he was killed and what kind of man

he was.’

The house was in Galluzzo, on the edge of the city:
a small house with a garden, where Giovanni
Biagini had lived with his brother and sister, both
unmarried.

Biagini wasn’t married either.

They had to wait a few minutes before the door
was opened.

When at last the Biaginis came to the door, Sergi
showed his badge and said, ‘Sorry to disturb you,
but 1s Giovanni Biagini a relative of yours?’

‘Our brother,” the man said. The woman looked
worried.

‘I'm sorry ... May I come in? ’m afraid we have
some bad news foryou ...’

When they were sitting down inside, Sergi told
them the news. Biagini’s sister burst into tears. The
brother looked stunned.

‘But ... are you sure it’s him? Can’titbe ...?’

‘I'm afraid there’s no doubt about it. I'm truly
sorry.’

‘But how did it happen? Who was it?’

“That’s what we have to find out. Prosecutor
Giulietti, who’s coordinating the investigation, has
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pursuing—and to add a touch of colour, a very
pretty young actress who had played a
policewoman in a successful TV movie. Although
Ferrara didn’t usually like the limelight, he had
thought it a worthwhile exercise that would make 1t
clear to anyone who had ears to hear that the circle
was closing in. But it had resulted in his becoming
a popular celebrity for a while—something his
superiors had not greatly appreciated.

‘If he wanted to be an idol he should have
become an actor,” Gallo said. ‘The Prosecutor’s
Department has more serious things to think about.
Ferrara will have to adapt. And soon.’

‘What do you intend to do?’

‘Nothing for the moment. But if he doesn’t bring
me results soon, I’ll have to intervene.’

The Commissioner reflected. ‘I'll talk to him,” he
said.

‘Go ahead, it you think i1t’ll do any good. But 1
warn you that if things don’t change I may have to
oppose his promotion—or worse.’

‘Isn’t that excessive? Chiet Superintendent
Ferrara 1s still a servant of the State likeus . ..’

“That’s why he needs to toe the line.’

“What do you mean?’

All he ever thinks about is the Monster of
Florence, even after all these years. He almost
never comes to the Prosecutor’s Department, and
when he does show his face, he shuts himself up in
an otfice with a colleague of mine who’s following
the case. The only time I've seen him lately was
over that Salustri business, and he made me go
with him all the way to the border on a journey
that turned out to be pointless. The deputy
prosecutors come to me and complain they don’t
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An anonymous phone call had come 1n that day.
There are always a lot of them after a murder,
most of them from cranks. But they always have to
be checked out, especially where there are no
other clues, if only to be able to say later that

nothing has been neglected.
The anonymous caller had mentioned the name

Antonio Gori, had described him as a ‘friend’ of
the murdered man, and had asked the police to

investigate their relationship.
The call had not been recorded, because the

switchboard was not yet equipped with a tape
recorder, but the officer had nevertheless
prepared a detailed report in which he had
emphasised how insistent the anonymous caller
had been that the relationship was a homosexual
one—after Violante had persisted in denying that
Lupi was gay in front of everyone.

Violante felt stupid for having dismissed the
report instead of passing it on to Ferrara. The call
might indeed have been a crank call, but then
again it might not have been.

His one excuse was that the call had come in
right in the middle of the operation that had led to
the arrest of Antonio Salustri. At the time, they
had been sure that the murder was connected with
the antiques racket, and there had been little
doubt in their minds that Salustri was the killer.

But it was no excuse really: he had been a fool.

A tool, but an honest one, who would never
dream of hiding his mistakes. Even when a man
was close to retirement, he was still responsible for
his own actions and had to account for them. Even

a policeman. Especially a policeman, he told
himself. How else could he presume to put
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They were unemployed young men of no fixed
abode, almost all of them illegal, driven by poverty
to satisfy their benefactors’ desires, and sometimes
their perversions, in return for a lunch, an item ot
clothing, the chance to call their families at home
from the phone in their client’s house, or even just
the opportunity to take a shower.

None of them recognised, or admitted to
recognising, Francesco Bianchi from the photo
they were shown.

Ferrara had also asked the phone company for a
printout of calls made to and from the victim’s
Florence apartment, and had put a tap on the
home telephone of his sister in Siena.

But nothing useful had emerged.

In the end, the only clue they had found that
was of any use was the traces of sperm in the
victim’s anus. Thanks to laboratory analysis by
the forensics team, they now had the killer’s
DNA. But 1t was an abstraction. Who did it
correspond to 1n reality? They didn’t yet have a
single suspect.

By the end of the week they seemed to have
reached a dead end. Meanwhile, the press were
becoming more strident with every day that passed.
And Ferrara was starting to think they were right.

X X X

A similar fear was being expressed at that moment
on an upper floor of Police Headquarters, where
Prosecutor Gallo and Commissioner Lepri were
meeting to evaluate the situation.

‘I don’t get the impression Ferrara knows what
he’s doing this time around,” Gallo was saying.
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"What did I say? You’re a good chess player. Now
1t’s up to me to make the next move . ..” He sighed,
as 1f surrendering. ‘But I beg you, in so far as it’s
humanly possible, to keep to yourself what I’'m
about to tell you. Not that it’s a secret, but the
Church would prefer it not to be talked about
openly, that’s all.

‘I'm sure you’ve heard of closed orders. Monks
and nuns who take a vow of silence and spend their
days in prayer and work, far from the eyes of the
world, with just a brief pause during the day to
exchange a tew words and pray together.

‘But perhaps you’ve never heard of the most
extreme form of closed order. Voluntary reclusion.
It’s a legacy of the Middle Ages. Some people
consider 1t a barbaric custom, which 1s why 1t’s
largely fallen into disuse. But it hasn’t completely
disappeared. Anyone who chooses this path 1s
confined to a cell, and only leaves that cell when he
is dead. It isn’t unusual for him to be walled up
alive, the only opening being a small window
through which to pass food prepared by his
brothers in the monastery. In the cell he has only
the bare essentials, and he sleeps in a wooden box
which will eventually be his cotfin.

‘There are still some individuals, inspired by a
deep desire to expiate something or to be closer to
the Lord, who ask for reclusion, and 1n very
particular circumstances the Church accedes to
their wishes. The last example known to the public
is that of Sister Nazarena, an American woman
whose real name was Julia Crotta. She lived as a
recluse for forty years, and was much admired by

Pope Paul VI. |
‘That is the path, Chief Superintendent, which
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unlucky enough to become the object of a killer’s
love, who had struck him the most.

When he saw the grief so clearly etched on her
parents’ faces, his resolution wavered. He did not
have the courage to intrude on their private pain: it
was the only thing they had left of their daughter.

What he did do, however, was visit the cemetery
on the last day of their stay. His excuse was that
cemeteries in small, historic villages were often
well worth seeing.

Petra went with him: she always supported her
husband’s whims. At the gate, Ferrara bought a
bunch of violets. They walked for a while between
the graves, lingering over the ones that seemed
especially curious or interesting.

And then he found her.
A simple stone, with the inscription

VALENTINA PRETI
1978-2000

and above 1t, an oval photograph cut into the
marble.

‘How beautiful she was,” Petra said, almost with
surprise, while Michele placed the bunch of violets
in the only free space he could find among the big
vases of what were almost certainly freshly-cut
flowers. ‘She looks like the Madonna by Filippo
Lipp1. You know, the one in San Lorenzo.’

As they turned to go, they were surprised to see
Valentina’s parents, standing not far from them
and looking at them uncertainly, almost as if trying
to remember who these people were who were
paying tribute to their daughter.

As they passed them, they nodded briefly by way
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‘Bye,” he said from the door.
‘Bye,” Valentina replied.
She was still sitting on the poutte.

x X X

‘He may be handsome, he may be kind, but I don’t
like him.” That was Cinzia’s verdict.

‘Why doesn’t that surprise me?’ Valentina said.

After what had happened last night, anyone
bursting in on them would have bothered Cinzia,
let alone someone who’d come to take Valentina
away.

‘It’s not for the reason you think. There’s
something strange about him, something cold.
Those eyes—brrr . . .

“You’re wrong, it’s just an impression. At first, I
also ...” She stopped, biting her lip, so that a little
drop of blood appeared. She was afraid of saying
too much.

Cinzia went up to her, put her arms round her,
and tried to wipe off the drop of blood with her
lips.

“You’re hurting me!” Valentina protested, feeling
a sharp pain 1n her shoulder. Last night, she hadn’t
complained.

Cinzia moved away abruptly. ‘Sorry.’

‘It’s nothing, I’'m sorry.’

‘Anyway,” Cinzia went on, ‘what do you care?
You’re not going back to Florence, are you?’

Valentina said nothing.

Again, she didn’t know. She hadn’t liked seeing
Mike go. Not like that, anyway. She didn’t want to
break off the relationship that way: it may not have
got started properly, but it had left its mark on her.
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‘Father Sergio Rotondi, yes.’

‘Precisely. I’'m sure you won’t mind telling me
why you are searching for him?’

‘Because he’s vanished. And people don’t just
vanish into thin air.’

‘If this is any comfort to you, he hasn’t vanished
as far as we’re concerned. He’s alive and, as far as
we know, well.’

‘Does that mean I can talk to him?’

The prelate hesitated, then let out a deep sigh.
‘No,’ he said at last. ‘Or at the very least, it won’t
be easy.’

‘May I ask why?’

‘Of course you may. As I said, we are indebted to
you and we would like to pay our debt.
However ... I'm not sure I can answer your
question directly. Perhaps you’ll allow me to ask
you something first.’

‘Please.’

‘It’s an obvious question, but could you tell me
why 1t’s so important to you to speak to Don
Sergio?’

- ‘Because he’s a major witness to a serious crime.
Perhaps you recall . . .’

“TThe murder of Stefano Micali, of course. Last
October, wasn’t 1t? Poor boy. And poor Don
Sergio, I know he was very upset. But surely he’s
already been questioned by the police, hasn’t he?
And I also recall that Father Francesco provided
him with an alibi. So why do you still need him?’

‘Because whoever killed Stefano Micali has
killed again, and he hasn’t finished yet. I’'m sure
you know that. It’s been in all the newspapers.’

““Florence trembles and Ferrara does nothing”.’
Monsignor Federici smiled. ‘I shouldn’t worry
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really didn’t know how to react. He had a lump in
his throat which made it difficult for him to speak.

He hadn’t seen anyone in the cell, and assumed
that Don Sergio was huddled against the wall
beneath the barred window in order not to be seen.

Are you there?’ he asked at last.

“Yes,” a hoarse, tremulous, but clearly audible
voice replied.

‘Are you Father Sergio Rotondi?’

‘I'm Sergio Rotondi.’

‘Do you know who I am?’

‘Yes.’

‘Do you know why I'm here?’

‘Yes.’

‘Are you prepared to cooperate?’

‘I’'ve been asked to do so, and I will.’

‘Did you know Lorenzo Ricciardi?’

‘We were pupils here, when it was still a boarding
school. Betore the scandal . . .’

‘But you were older than he was. Did you know
each other?”’

‘Yes.’

‘Do you know why we’re looking for him?’

No answer.

‘Do you know?’

‘I can imagine.’

‘Lorenzo Ricciardi is a killer.’

No answer.

‘He’s killed at least six people. He’s a vicious

killer.’ |
‘Oh, no, no ...’ It wasn’t a denial, but a lament.

‘Do you think he’s capable of something like
that, father . .. or brother, I’'m not sure what to call
you.’

‘Call me Sergio. That’s my name.’
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room like the thunder of the apocalypse, sending

her heart into her mouth and a shudder through
her body.

‘Don’t answer 1t.’

The voice was calm, ice-cold, even though his
eyes were brimming with tears. Valentina turned
slowly, emotionlessly, like an automaton. She was
beyond fear now.

“You shouldn’t have, you shouldn’t have ...” he
said, weeping. ‘I loved you, I loved you more than
anyone in the world.’

He was standing in the doorway. She had no idea
how long he had been watching her.

Valentina had never seen a gun, and didn’t know
what that metal tube was, screwed onto the barrel
and pointing straight at her heart.

14
—~D

Ferrara went down to the press room, as if he had
just happened to wander in that direction. The
only person there was Ahmed Farah, a reporter for
La Nazione. He was of Egyptian descent, young
but very good.

‘Anything new, Superintendent?’

‘No, nothing,” he replied. Then, as if having
second thoughts, he said, ‘Actually, no, come with
me.’

In the corridor he put an arm around his
shoulder and whispered, conspiratorially, ‘Can you

keep a secret?’
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around the apartment naked or half-naked.

She found it quite natural to flaunt her young,
undeveloped body, her small, firm breasts that had
never really grown, her long slim limbs and narrow
buttocks which gave her a slightly boyish
appearance, like one of those anorexic models so
much in vogue at the time.

Valentina could not avoid the comparison
between her friend’s smooth, barely angular curves
and the rougher, less graceful surfaces of the only
male body she had ever known. Nor could she help
wondering what it would be like to feel Cinzia’s
languid caresses again, the soft, probing kisses, the
urgent, expert fingers, the delicate tongue. At
times like these, she realised that what Mike had
inflicted on her had been a real act of violence, the
only weapon of seduction, perhaps, that a man
knew.

She felt ashamed whenever she thought about it.
Her mind would cloud over, and she would find i1t
hard to reason, hard to understand. Deep down,
something in her had responded to that violence.

It Cinzia ever noticed these moments of
confusion, she certainly didn’t show it. She would
complete whatever gesture she had begun,
continue the conversation without any alteration in
the tone of her voice. And, consciously or not, she
would score another point in her favour.

S X S

The final move in the game came on Friday
evening. In the afternoon, Cinzia had helped
Valentina to cut the plaster from her leg, and
finally remove the sling and plaster from her
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‘Don’t you realise you can’t look after yourselt?
How are you going to wash yourself? Who’ll cook
your food? Don’t be stupid. You’ll manage fine for
two weeks with what you take from here. You don’t
need much, it’s not as if you’re going dancing.
Bologna is still your home. I swear I won’t make
any attempts to steal your virtue, if that’s what
you’re worried about.’

Valentina smiled. And what if you did? she
thought. During this vacation she had got much
closer to Cinzia, who’d been so good to her, better
even than a sister would have been. She dismissed
the thought.

But her friend was right. She wouldn’t manage
on her own i1n Florence, and she risked being
forced into an intimacy with Mike that she didn’t
want to face up to at the moment. Especially in her
condition.

“What about my studies . . .?" she said, weakly.

‘Give me a list of books,” Cinzia said. ‘I’'ll add
exercise books, pens, ink and even an inkpot. All
on the house!’

S0 on Sunday 5 March, Valentina set foot again
in what had been her home in Bologna.

K K XK

The next day, there was a text message on
Valentina’s mobile phone.

It was from Mike.

Having fun? When returning Florence?

She decided to call him and tell him everything.
She told him she was stuck in Bologna and she
would be back as soon as she was able to move. A
week at the most. She was feeling fine. Her face
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friendships at the time the crime is committed.
These are the things detectives examine In their

attempts to reconstruct a man’s life. o
‘Did you suspect him when Stefano Micali was

killed?’

‘No, only later, when Alfredo died. That was
when I got scared. Then I received an anonymous
letter that made me almost certain it was Lorenzo
taking his revenge ... But I wasn’t sure and I
couldn’t say anything. Think of the scandal, the
repercussions for the Church ...’

‘So you let the others be executed.’

It was less an accusation than a statement of fact,
and Sergio Rotondi knew it.

That withdrawal from the world, that apparently
courageous gesture, had in fact been an act ot the
most contemptible cowardice, which had
condemned his companions to death.

Ferrara abandoned him to his fate. He couldn’t
imagine what it must be like to have a burden like
that on your conscience.

* x X

He was surprised that the monk who had brought
him wasn’t there waiting for him. He soon
discovered why.

He and some of the other monks had gathered
haltway down the long corridor, outside the open
door of one of the cells. From the other end of the
corridor, Brother Anselmo and two other monks
came running.

Ferrara reached the small group almost at the
same time as Brother Anselmo. The monks stood
aside, silently and deferentially. It was clear from
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punish him . .. make him the same as us ... Why,
why? What came over us? I keep thinking about it,
keep trying to understand how our love for
Brother Attanasio and the passion and
recklessness of youth could have made us stoop so
low ...

"What happened exactly?’

‘One night, we raped him. All five of us, in
turn...

Suddenly, the light stone walls seemed to lose the
serenity Ferrara had been struck by not so long
betore. It wasn’t the first story of this kind he’d
ever heard, but hearing it told by a monk and
knowing that it had taken place right here made it
all the more sickening.

‘And then?’

‘When Brother Attanasio found out, he was
furious, but he lost no time 1n making Lorenzo his
favourite. He had relations with the boy for many
years, right up until the time Lorenzo left, I think.
Soon after that, Brother Anselmo discovered what
had been going on. No one knows how, but many
of us thought he’d had a letter from Lorenzo,
maybe an anonymous one. Anyway, he closed the
school down. We’d already left by this time.’

‘Stefano Micali was one of you, wasn’t he?’

‘Yes. And the others were Alfredo Lupi,
Francesco Bianchi and Giovanni Biagini.’

Of course, Ferrara thought, bitterly. How easy it
would have been to find a connection between the
victims, if only they’d thought of going as far back
as their childhood. But that almost never happens,
unless there are particular reasons to do so. A
person is generally considered within a network ot
adult relations—work relations, contractual ties,
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corridors lined with large dormitories and tiny
cells, all kept very tidy and equipped with just the
bare necessities. At last they came to a small
wooden door with a little barred window. The
monk took out a huge bunch of keys. Ferrara
remembered the rituals attendant on his visit to
the prison where Antonio Salustri was confined,
only they seemed somewhat more human here.

Once through the door, they entered yet another
corridor, this one narrower than the others, with
similar doors along it, all of them with barred
windows. Then they turned a corner, and Ferrara
was taken aback.

They were in an empty space, some nine or ten
square feet, ending in a wall that was completely
blank except for a barred window through which a
weak light filtered. Not far from the wall stood a
rough wooden chair. Before leaving him, his guide
asked him to sit down. As he sat, he glanced briefly
through the barred window. He understood the
true meaning of Monsignor Federici’s words—The
situation he is in now can’t be equalled even in your
toughest prisons—and realised the enormity of the
spectacle he’d been given the somewhat dubious
privilege of witnessing.

The cell was very small; just large enough to
contain a wooden chest with a cross nailed to its
lid, which the recluse used as a bed and which was
destined—as Monsignor Federici had intimated—
to become his coftfin, plus an old wicker armchair,
the instruments of penitence and the Bible.

Walled up alive. Sergio Rotondi had chosen the
most extreme form of voluntary reclusion.

Ferrara had never before been in a situation like
this and hoped he would never be in one again. He
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schoolbooks, and posters and pennants on the
walls. There was a bed, quite intact, against the
wall on the left, and on the right a large desk with
a computer, neat piles of books, and bundles of
files. Beside the desk, a metal shelving unit, also
full of books, and on the wall above the desk, a
large poster that didn’t seem to belong. It
showed the insignia of the FBI and, beneath it,
the words FBI Academy, Quantico, Virginia. Next
to it was a framed photograph that showed a
group of young men in T-shirts and caps with FBI
on them. One of them was Mike, but his hair was
different, longer and darker, chestnut brown
perhaps. Did he dye his hair?

At the far end of the room, an armchair and a
reading lamp stood beside a large French window
covered with two planks of wood nailed on in the
shape of an X. All the cracks were sealed with
brown packing tape. To Valentina, the window
seemed like an ugly blemish in a room that in every
other way was pleasant and clean, and
meticulously tidy.

She approached the metal shelves and looked at
the books. The first two titles she saw were Killers
on the Loose: Unsolved Cases of Serial Murder by
Antonio Mendoza, and Still at Large: A Casebook
of 20th Century Serial Killers Who Eluded Justice by
Michael Newton.

The others were all in the same vein: To Die of
Horror: A Hundred Years of Serial Killers and
Crimes Told as a Novel by Enzo Catania, I Have
Lwved in the Monster: Inside the Minds of the World’s
Most Notorious Serial Killers by Robert K. Ressler
and Tom Shachtman, Serial Killer: Methods of
Identification and Investigative Procedures by Silvio
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down.
She knocked at the door on the ground floor and

asked Nenita to make her a cup of cottee.

‘Strong,” she said. ‘Very strong. I have a
headache.’

She didn’t continue, as it was clear Nenita didn’t
understand a word.

They were in the kitchen again, and Valentina’s
eyes fell on the key rack. Maybe, she thought, that
was why she’d come down here . ..

She went closer. There it was, the smallest key,
with a sign next to it that said First Floor.

When the coffee maker emitted its triumphant
gurgle, she quickly grabbed it.

Nenita was busy taking the cotfee pot off the
hob.

k X X

When Nenita finished her half day and left,
Valentina tfound an excuse to phone Mike on his
mobile and make sure he would not be back soon.
Then she went down to the first floor and slipped

the little key in the padlock, which opened
immediately.

The door swung on its hinges. It was well-oiled,
and didn’t squeak at all.

Valentina went 1n.

The door closed slowly behind her and she was
swallowed by the darkness.

X k S

Darkness.

When her eyes had become accustomed to it, she
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